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Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report — Year ended 30 June 2011

Name of entity:

ARSN:

113 489 624

MIRVAC INDUSTRIAL TRUST

Detail of the reporting period

Current period:

Previous corresponding period:

1 July 2010 - 30 June 2011

1 July 2009 - 30 June 2010

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET Up A$7000
2.1 Revenues from ordinary activities 23.16% 81,748
2.2 Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to members 199.79% 30,841
2.3 Net profit for year attributable to members 199.79% 30,841
2.4 | Distributions {(dividends) Amount per Franked
security amount per
security
Total distribution Nil Nil
25 Record date for determining entitlements to the distribution N/A
2.8 | Afull explanation of the above figures is documented in Mirvac Industrial Trust’'s announcement to the market and
audited financial report.
30 Jun 2011 30 Jun 2010
A$ A$
9 Net tangible asset per security attributable to unitholders 0.20 0.14

All other information requiring disclosure to comply with listing rule 4.3A is contained in Mirvac Industrial Trust's

announcement to the market and annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011.
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Mirvac industrial Trust
Chairman’s and Trust Manager’'s report
30 June 2011

During the 2011 financial year the Mirvac Industrial Trust (“MIX” or the “Trust"} continued to face pressures from ongoing
offorts to extend the Trust's debt maturity profile. This limited the Trust's ability to capitalise on the slowly improving
conditions in the US economy and signs of recovery in demand for industrial space in the greater Chicago area. Following
the implementation of a number of capital management strategies executed throughout the period, the Trust is now in a
stronger position to benefit from improving market fundamentals.

In February 2011, the US$64.8m CJF2 LLC (“CJF2”) and the US$9.9m CJF3 LLC ("CJF3") debt facilities were refinanced.
This was followed on 1 July 2011 by the refinancing of the US$123.5m CJF1 LLC (“CJF1") debt facility that had been in
maturity default since August 2010. The refinancing of these three debt facilities delivers a portfolio which is secured by
long-term debt facilities expiring in March 2016, ‘

On 1 July 2011, the Trust finalised the sale of two assets, 21705 — 21707 West Mississippi Street and 27413 South Baseline
Road, Elwood, llincis ("Elwood Assets™), the proceeds of which were used to further reduce debt and assist in the CJF1

refinancing.

On 5 August 2011, the transfer of the 30 properties held by CJF4 LLC (“CJF4") in exchange for satisfaction of the
US$144.1m KTR' facility, plus US$5.0m consideration paid to CJF4, was completed.

In implementing the above capital stability strategies, Management and the Board evaluated a number of strategic
alternatives for the Trust, including the outright sale of the Trust's investment portfolio prior to stabilising the capital structure
of MIX. Management and the Board determined that stabilising the Trust's capital structure by refinancing CJF1, CJF2 and
CJF3 and transferring the assets held by CJF4 in exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligations to repay
US$144.1m, plus consideration of US$5.0m paid by KTR to CJF4, collectively represented the most advantageous outcome

for unitholders.

More information on the refinancing of the debt facilities, the transfer of the assets held by CJF4 is covered in the Capital
Management section of this report.

Board changes
During the reporting period there were a number of changes to the Board.

Andrew Butler was appointed to the Board as Executive Director, effective 13 December 2010.

Kenneth Strang, Non-Executive Director, resigned from the Board, effective 27 May 2011. We would like to thank Mr Strang
for his expertise and the contribution he made to the Board over the past four years.

Nicholas Collishaw, Executive Director, resigned from the Board, effective 29 June 2011, in order to maintain a majority of
independent directors on the Board.

Performance

While there are signs of recovery in the US economy, high unemployment is hindering the speed of the recovery. In the
Chicago industrial market the outlook is cautiously optimistic; with increased levels of tenant inquiries, market rents
stabilising in most sub-markets and transactional velocity continuing to build momentum although this remains limited to A

grade assets.

In line with our conservative capital management approach and funding requirements, no distribution was paid during the
year. This strategy provided the Trust with additional capital required to assist in refinancing efforts.

The Trust's operating profit before specific non-cash and significant items, for the year ended 30 June 2011 was $6.4m, a
44.8 per cent decrease on the previous year's operating profit of $11.5m. Gross assets, including the CJF4 assets, were
$432.9m, a decrease of 12.0 per cent over the previous year's gross assets of $492.0m.

The Trust's net tangible assets (“NTA”) at 30 June 2011 were $0.20 per unit. The NTA of CJF4 at 30 June 2011 amounted
to $15.4m or approximately $0.04 per unit. The setlement of CJF4 transaction on 5 August 2011 resulted in the transfer of
the 30 investment properties and some associated assets and liabilities to KTR and reduced the Trust's net assets by
approximately US$10.5m. Using the 30 June 2011 exchange rate of 1.0739, the CJF4 transaction reduces the Trust's NTA
by approximately $0.03 per unit at 30 June 2011 from $0.20 per unit to $0.17 per unit.

Eamings for the period were 1.76 cents per unit, in line with management expectations. With the refinancing of the CJF1,
CJF2 and CJF3 asset pools completed we expect future earnings from the now stabilised portfolio to be less volatile going
forward and benefit from the slowly improving US economic conditions.

MIX's unit price has traded at a significant discount to NTA over the past 12 to 18 months due tc debt headwinds and market
sentiment. At 30 June 2011 the Trust's unit price was $0.038, compared to $0.037 at 30 June 2010.

' KTRWIM LLC and KTR WIM Il LLC.
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Valuations
During the year all of the Trust's assets were revalued resulting in a valuation uplift of US$30.3m? an increase of 7.8 per

cent® on the book values as at 31 December 2010.

The weighted average capitalisation rate of the portfolio firmed by 53 basis points over the 12 month beriod to 30 June 2011
to 8.49 per cent’. '

The stabilised portfolic of 30 assets contained in CJF1, CJF2 and CJF3 was revalued during the period resulting in a
valuation uplift of US$6.8m, an increase of 3.1 per cent on the book values as at 31 December 2010.

Please refer to the Trust's financial statements for further information on the Trust’s 30 June 2011 valuations.

Capital management

The implementation of various initiatives over the past 12 months has provided the Trust greater capital stability and security
to the Trust's NTA backing. This follows a difficult period during which the Trust's performance and eamings were negatively
impacted by short-term debt maturities and associated uncertainty generated.

Throughout the 2011 financial year Management has focused on lengthening the Trust's debt maturity profile. This has
resulted In the refinancing of three of the Trust's debt facilities held by CJF1, CJF2 and CJF3, and the transfer of 30
investment properties held by CJF4 to KTR.

In February 2011, the refinance of the US$64.8m CMBS2 facility and the US$9.9m Hammond Letter of Credit held by CJF2
and CJF3 respectively was completed prior to the maturity date via two new five year facilities with ING USA Annuity and
Life Insurance Company (“ING™). The combined loan amount is US$86.0m at an interest rate of 4.5 per cent, approximately
57 basis points lower than the previous facilities. The two debt facilities are cross collateralised and secured by 19 industrial
assets located in or around Chicago with a book value of US$113.6m as at 30 June 2011.

This transaction was followed on 1 July 2011 with the completion of the refinancing of the US$123.5m CMBS1 facility which
is held by CJF1.

The refinance of the CJF1 facility was achieved using a combination of funding scurces including a new US$64.0m loan
from ING, proceeds after costs of US$53.0m from the sale of the Trust's Elwood Assets, a further US$5.0m drawdown on
the Mirvac Group Finance Limited (“MGFL"} loan and cash at hand.

Included with the repayment of CJF1’s outstanding obligations was an agreed amcunt of US$3.0m for six months of default
interest as a consequence of CJF1 being in maturity default from 7 August 2010 (approximately 11 months). The late
payment charge of US$6.2m, representing 5 per cent of the unpaid amount, which was included as a liability in the Trust's
accounts at 31 December 2010, was not imposed by the CMBS1 Special Servicer. The reversal of this provision resulted in

a positive increase to the Trust's NTA.

The new US$64.0m ING facility is secured by 10 industrial assets located in or around Chicago with a book value of
US$99.3m as at 30 June 2011. The facility is further cross collateralised with the existing CJF2 and CJF3 facilities. The
initial term of the new facility is approximately five years at an interest rate of 4.3 per cent, a reduction of 0.9 per cent
compared to the prior CJF1 facility.

CJF4 facility
During the period KTR Capital Partners ("KTR") acquired the facility previously known as the Northwestern Mutual Life

Credit Facility. KTR is a private real estate investment group that owns in excess of 5.0m square feet of industrial product in
the Greater Chicago area.

On 5 August 2011 {US time), CJF4 completed the transfer of ownership of all 30 CJF4 properties to KTR in exchange for
KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligations to repay US$144.1m, plus consideration of US$5.0m paid by KTR to CJF4.

The Board believes the agreement reached with KTR in relation to the CJF4 facility represented the best outcome for MIX
unitholders, for the reason set out below.

On 1 July 2011 (US time), the US$144.1m KTR facility, held by CJF4 matured. As the CJF4 facility was not repaid the loan
was in maturity default.

Given the CJF4 portfolio was highly leveraged, the default interest that KTR was entitled to impose under the terms of the
KTR facility and the prospect of a distressed sale of the CJF4 assets resulting in sale prices at a sizeable discount to book
values, the Board believed it was highly unlikely that, if foreclosure proceedings were commenced by KTR, any equity would

be retumed to the Trust.

2 Before the CJF4 transaction which was completed on 5 August 2011.
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Management and the Board considered ways of enabling the Trust to retain the CJF4 portfolio, including but not limited to:
seeking alternative refinancing of the KTR facility, seeking an outright sale of the CJF4 portfolio and/or reducing CJF4's
leverage through either individuai asset sales or raising third party equity.

However, given the high gearing levels of the CJF4 portfolio and its inability to generate equity from individual asset sales
similar to the sale of the Elwood assets, no superior commercial transactions were capable of being undertaken.

The transfer of the CJF4 portfolio in exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligations to repay US$144.1m under the
KTR facility, plus consideration of US$5.0m paid to CJF4 together with the recently announced refinancing of the CJF1,
CJF2 and CJF3 facilities, represents a substantial milestone in stabilising the capital structure of the Trust.

MGFL loan
To imptement the refinancing of the CJF1 facility (see details above), the Trust received consent to a drawdown of a further

US$5.0m under the MGFL loan. As a result of the Trust drawing these funds, certain conditions of the MGFL loan
agreement were amended. These include:

> 100 per cent of the net proceeds from the sale of 3145 Central Avenue, Waukegan, lllinois and 9700 Harlem Avenue,
Bridgeview, Illinois (sale was completed on 15 July 2011} in addition to the current requirement that S0 per cent of the
net proceeds from the sale of any other assets must be used to pay down the MGFL loan; and

>  The maturity date of the MGFL loan is to be extended to 30 September 2012 (from 31 January 2012},

To assist the refinancing of CJF1, MGFL agreed to waive its rights to 50 per cent of the net proceeds from the sale of the
Elwood Assets.

The balance of the MGFL loan post the US$5.0m drawdown was US$14.1m. Following the implementation of the capital
management strategies, Management has reduced the MGFL loan balance using the net sale proceeds from the sale of
9700 Harlem Avenue, Bridgeview, lllinois (US$1.8m), and intends to further reduce the facility using part proceeds from the
CJF4 transaction {US$3.2m).

Following the impact of the portfolié revaluations, the implementation of the capital stability strategies and the completion of
the CJF4 transaction, MIX's financial position has been substantially improved. As a result, MIX's NTA has increased to
$0.17 per unit® from $0.10 per unit as at 31 December 2010 and the Trust's gearing level has reduced substantially to 66.7
per cent* from 84.1 per cent at 31 December 2010 with a weighted average debt expiry of 4.3 years from 0.3 years at 31
December 2010,

Future outlook

Financial market turmoil and its impact on wealth, employment and company investment have increased the risk of a
“double dip" recession in the US and Eurcpe. Even so, the higher-frequency indicators, such as jobless claims, retail sales
and the Institute for Supply and Management (ISM} index, suggest the underlying economic momentum in the US economy

is stronger than the national accounts indicate.

If the financial market dislocation proves to be temporary, the economic backdrop continues to bode well for the growth in
the US industrial property sector.

Conditions in the Chicago industrial market continue o improve with average vacancy rates in the first half 2011 dropping to
a pre 2009 level of 10.5 per cent. Rents have also stabilised and leasing activity, albeit slowly, is increasing market-wide in
both quantity and deal size.

With minimal new construction in the Greater Chicago area, positive net absorption is expected over the next 12 months.

Management will continue to focus on the operating performance of the Trust; to maximise tenant retention, improve
occupancy levels, extend the lease expiry profile and maximise income from the Trust's portfolio. The sale of assets will be
limited in the short-term due to prepayment restrictions associated with the new ING debt facilities, with 3145 Central
Avenue, Waukegan being the only asset expected to be marketed for sale.

The Trust's eamings for the 2012 financial year are forecast to be in the range of 1.65 to 1.80 cents’ subject to no material
adverse changes in market conditions. Maintaining our prudent capital management strategy and the need to continue to
reduce the Trust's overall gearing level, the Trust does not intend to pay a distribution for the year ending 30 June 2012.

% The Trust's net tangible assets (‘NTA") at 30 June 2011 was $0.20 per unit. The NTA of CJF4 at 30 June 2014 amounted to $15.4m or
approximately $0.04 per unit. The settlement of C.JF4 transaction on 5 August 2011 resulted in the transfer of the 30 investment
properties and some associated assets and liabilities to KTR and reduced the Trust's net assets by approximately US$10.5m. Using the
30 June 2011 exchange rate of 1.0739, the CJF4 transaction reduces the Trust's NTA by approximately $0.03 per unit at 30 June 2011
from $0.20 per unit to $0.17 per unit.

4 Post completion of the CJF1 refinance and compietion of the CJF4 transaction.

5 The eamings range assumes a bankruptcy provision of 2.5 per cent of gross rental income and an average AUD/USD exchange rate of

1.076. The Trust has no income or capital hedges in place.
4
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Management and the Board will continue to review strategic alternatives and seek outcomes that maximise value for the
benefit of MIX unitholders.

Paul Barker Nicholas Blake
Chairman Trust Manager
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The Directors of Mirvac Funds Management Limited (ABN 78 067 417 663), the Responsible Entity of Mirvac Industrial Trust
(the “Trust’) present their report, together with the financial report of the Trust and its controlled entities for the year ended

30 June 2011.
Responsible Entity

The Responsible Entity of the Trust is Mirvac Funds Management Limited, an entity incorporated in New South Wales. The
immediate parent entity of the Responsible Entity is Mirvac Limited (ABN 92 003 280 699), incorporated in New South

Wales.
Directors

The following persons were Directors of the Responsible Entity during the whole of the year and up to the date of this report
unless otherwise stated:

Paul Barker (Chairman)
Andrew Butler (was alternate to Nicholas Collishaw until his appeointment on 13 December 2010)

Nichelas Collishaw (resigned on 29 June 2011)
Matthew Hardy
Kenneth Strang (resigned on 27 May 2011)

Principal activities

The principal continuing activity of the Trust is property investment. The Trust operates in one geographical area, the United
States of America. There has been no significant change in the principal activities of the Trust during the year.

The Trust did not have any employees during the year.

Distributions

There were no distributions paid or made payable to the unitholders of the Trust during the financial year {2010: nil).
Review of operations and activities

The statutory profit after tax attributable to unitholders of the Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011 was $30.8m (2010:
$30.9m loss). The operating profit {profit before specific non-cash and significant items) was $6.4m (2010: $11.5m).

Operating profit is a financial measure which is not prescribed by Australian Accounting Standards (“AAS") and represents
the profit under AAS adjusted for specific non-cash and significant items. The following table summarises key reconciling
items between the statutory profit/{loss} after tax attributable to unitholders and operating profit.

2011 2010
$°000 $'000
Profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders 30,841 (30,907)
Specific non-cash items
Recognition of rental income on a straight line basis {823) (1,583)
Net {gain) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss (43) {2,115)
Net (gain)/loss from fair value adjustments on investment properties {28,259) 44,682
Amortisation 1,368 1,458
Significant items
Provision for default costs 3.306 -
Operating profit (profit before specific non-cash and significant items) . 6,390 11,535

Financial highlights

Key financial highlights for the year ended 30 June 2011 included:

Statutory profit of 8.51 cents per unit (2010: loss of 8.53 cents per unit};

Operating profit of 1.76 cents per unit {profit before specific non-cash and significant items} (2010: 3.18 cents per unit);
Net increase of $28.3m in revaluations across the investment property portfolio {2010: net decrease of $44.7m);
Increase in Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) per unit from $0.14 at 30 June 2010 to $0.20 at 30 June 2011 ($0.16
exciuding CJF4). As noted in the Directors Report, note 1 b} and note 23 the Trust ceased to own the properties and
extinguished the associated debt relating to CJF4 LLC (a controlled entity of the Trust) on 5 August 2011. The NTA of
CJF4 at 30 June 2011 was $0.04 per unit.
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Value of assets

The Trust's assets are valued in accordance with policies stated in note 1 of the financial statements. The Trust's total

assets are as follows:

2011 - 2010

$'000 $000

Total assets 432,929 491,994
Interests in the Trust

2011 2010

Number of units Number of units

000 ‘000

Total units on issue 362,458 362,458

Environmental regulation

The Trust is subject to significant environmental legislation and associated regulations and Acts. The Trust is committed to
the implementation of responsible and practical management procedures to minimise environmental impacts and provide
compliance under the government regulations applicable to all areas of its operations,

Non-audit services

The Responsible Entity may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the
auditor's expertise and experience with the Trust are relevant (non-audit services). Details of the amounts paid or payable to
the auditor ("PricewaterhouseCoopers"} for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in note 19 of
the financial statements.

The board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit, Risk and

Compliance Committee ("ARCC”), is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general

standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the provision

of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out in note 19, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the

Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

. All non-audit services have been reviewed by the ARCC to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of
the auditor, and

. None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, including reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management
or a decision-making capacity for the Trust, acting as advocate for the Trust or jointly sharing economic risk and

rewards.
Significant changes in the state of affairs

The financial report for the Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011 has been prepared on a going concern basis. After
reviewing the Trust's going concem status the Directors of the Responsible Entity have concluded that the Trust has
reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. Since 30 June 2011
the conditions that existed which gave rise to material uncertainty to the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern have
been resolved as a result of the refinancing of the Trust's debt as well as binding agreements entered into (see below) and

set out in note 1(b) of the financial statements.
Ongoing Risks
The following ongoing risks have now been resolved that would have affected Trust's future performance:

(i}  CJF4, LLC loan expired 1 July 2011 (Fixed Debt facility)

Background
The Fixed Debt facility of CJF4 LLC (*CJF4"), a controlled entity of the Trust totalling $134.2m (US$144.1m) matured on 1
July 2011 and was not repaid meaning the borrower, CJF4 LLC, pursuant fo the terms of the Fixed Debt facility, was in

default.

The Fixed Debt facility is secured by 30 assets with a collateral value at 30 June 2011 of $152.3m and borrowings of
$134.2m. Further detail on the Trust's secured assets and borrowings are detailed in note 11 and note 14 to the financial

statements.
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The Responsible Entity had been in negotiations with KTR WIM LLC and KTR WIM Il LL.C ("KTR”") in relation to the CJF4
facility that was due and payable on 1 July 2011 {US time). To facilitate negotiations, KTR and CJF4 entered into a mutual
short-term Forbearance Agreement (the “Agreement”) on 2 July 2011. The negotiations with KTR resulted in the execution
of a binding agreement on 31 July 2011 {US time).

The binding agreement required CJF4 to fransfer ownership of all 30 CJF4 properties on an “as is, where is” basis to KTR in
exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligation o repay $134.2m (US$144.1m) under the CJF4 facility, plus
consideration of US$5.0m being paid by KTR to CJF4. Settlement of the transaction occurred on 5 August 2011 (US time).

The Responsible Entity believes the binding agreement reached with KTR represents the best outcome for Trust unitholders
as no superior commercial transactions were capable of being undertaken given the highly levered nature of the CJF4
portfolio and its lower asset quality relative to the Trust’s other asset pools.

Assets realised at less than fair value at balance date

The net assets of CJF4 at 30 June 2011 amount to $15.4m (this equated to $0.04 of net tangible assets per unit). The NTA
balance for CJF4 at 30 June 2011 is predominantly attributed to the increase through revaluations of the CJF4 properties at
30 June 2011. Whilst the valuations were undertaken in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards {refer to note 11)
these values did not reflect the commercial ability of the Trust to realise the values aftributed to these properties given the
highly levered nature of the CJF4 portfolio and the immediate need to pay off its associated debt. As noted above the Trust
received net consideration after repayment of the debt and before associated costs of US$5.0m.

{iiy  Loans refinanced for CMBS 1 ($109.4m) and Floating Interest Cap ($5.6m), Sale of Elwood Assets

The Responsible Entity has repaid its loan facilities CMBS 1 {$109.4m) and Floating Interest Cap ($5.6m) held by CJF1 LLC
{"CJF1") and replaced them with a Fixed Debt loan facility with ING USA Annuity and Life Insurance Company (“ING"} on 1
July 2011 (US time). The value of the refinanced facility for this controlled entity of the Trust is $59.6m (US$64.0m).

Included with the repayment of CJF1 loan facilities was an agreed amount of $2.8m (US$3.0m) for six months of default
interest as a consequence of CMBS1 being in maturity default from 7 August 2010 (approximately 11 months}. The late
payment charge of $5.8m (US$6.2m), representing 5 per cent of the unpaid amount, was not imposed by the CJF1 loan
facilities special servicer.

The repayment was achieved using a combination of sources including the new loan from ING stated above, proceeds
before costs of $50.4m (US$54.1m) from the sale of the Trust's Elwood assets (27413 South Baseline Road and 21705-07
West Mississippi Street), a further $4.7m (US$5.0m) drawdown on the Mirvac Group Finance Limited (“MGFL") loan and
cash at hand.

At 30 June 2011, CJF1 consisted of 14 assets with a value of $148.4m, of which 3 assets were held for sale. The new loan
facility with ING is secured by 10 assets which at 30 June 2011 were valued at a total of $82.5m {US$99.3m). The ING
facility is secured by the assets listed under note 11 in connection with CJF1 with the exception of the following four assets:
27413 South Baseline Road, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

21705-07 West Mississippi Street, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

9700 Harlem Ave, Bridgeview {sold 15 July 2011 US time); and

3145 Central Ave, Waukegan {remains an asset of CJF1 with no direct debt facility).

The key terms of the loan are as follows:

J A term of 4.8 years (the loan matures on 1 March 2031 but is callable on 1 March 2016, 1 March 2021 and 1 March
2026},

Fixed interest rate of 4.30 per cent per annum;

23.5 year amortisation of the Fixed Debt facility,

First mortgage security interest in all real property held by CJF1 with the exceptions noted above; and

Limited recourse to CJF1 and cross-collateralised between CJF2 and CJF3.

(i)  Other debt facilities

To implement the refinancing of the CJF1 loan facilities, the Responsible Entity received consent {o a drawdown of a further

US$5.0m under the MGFL loan. As a result of the Trust drawing these funds under the MGFL loan, certain conditions of the

MGFL loan agreement were amended. These include:

. 100 per cent of the net proceeds from the future sale of 3145 Central Avenue, Waukegan, lllinois and 9700 Harlem
Avenuse, Bridgeview, lllinois in return for MGFL waiving the requirement that 50 per cent of the net proceeds from the
sale of the two Elwood assets only be applied to the MGFL loan; and

. The maturity date of the MGFL loan was extended to 30 September 2012 (from 31 January 2012).

The Trust repaid its loan facilities CMBS 2 US$64.8m held by CJF2 LLC ("CJF2") and Floating Debt U$$9.9m held by CJF3
LLC ("CJF3") and replaced them with Fixed Debt loan facilities with ING. The loans for these controlled entities of the Trust
were far US$77.9m for CJF2 and US$8.1m for CJF3.

Further details on the borrowings of the Trust can be found in note 14 and details on investment properties relating to the
borrowing can be found in note 11.
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(iv) Derivative financial instruments
During the period derivative financial instruments have been extinguished such that no further asset or liability will be carried
going forward. The Trust is still subject to foreign exchange volatility in the normal course of business.

Net current liability posifion

As at 30 June 2011, the Trust is in a net current liability position of $194.4m. Current liabilities include debt facilities expired
and expiring totalling $252.0m (this includes default provision costs as discussed in note 14). Per the notes above the debt
facilities pertaining to CJF1 have been refinanced on 1 July 2011 and a settlement with KTR for CJF4 debt facility has
resulted in a reduction to the net current liability position of the Trust. The Directors of the Responsible Entity have reviewed
the cash flow forecasts of the Trust and expect that the Trust will have sufficient cash flows to meet obligations as and when

they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Trust that occurred during
the year under review.

- Matters subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2011

The Responsible Entity announced on 4 July 2011 that it had repaid its CMBS 1 loan facilities ($109.4m) and Floating
Interest Cap ($5.6m}) held by CJF1 LLC (“CJF1") and replaced them with a Fixed Debt loan facility with ING on 1 July 2011
(US time). The loan for this controlled entity of the Trust is $59.6m (US$64.0m). In conjunction with the refinance the Trust
aiso disposed of 27413 South Baseline Road, Elwood and 21705-07 West Mississippi Street, Eiwood on 1 July 2011,
Further details on these fransactions can be found above and in note 1(b).

As announced on 4 July 2011, to impiement the refinancing of the CJF1 loan facilities, the Responsible Entity received
consent to a drawdown of a further US$5.0m under the MGFL loan. Further details can be found above and in note 1(b).

The Responsible Entity also announced on 4 July 2011 that negotiations between KTR WIM LLC and KTR WIM Il LLC
(“KTR") who are the lenders of the CJF4 (a controlled entity of the Trust) loan facility had commenced and were continuing.
These negotiations related to the CJF4 loan facility that was due and payabie on 1 July 2011 {US time).

To facilitate negotiations, KTR and CJF4 entered into a mutual short-term Forbearance Agreement {the “Agreement”) on 2
July 2011. The Agreement set out that KTR will refrain from enforcement actions on the repayment of the CJF4 facility for a
period of up to 28 days.

As announced on 2 August 2011 this resulted in the execution of a binding agreement on 31 July 2011 (US time). The
binding agreement required CJF4 to expedite the transfer of all 30 CJF4 properties on an *as is, where is” basis to KTR in
exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligation to repay $134.2m (US$144.1m) under the CJF4 facility, plus
consideration of US$5.0m being paid by KTR to CJF4. The collateral value of these assets at 30 June 2011 was $152.3m
{US$163.6m). Settlement of the transaction occurred on 5 August 2011 (US time).

The terms of the settlement also result in the transfer of some assets and liabilities attached to the 30 investment properties
transferred to KTR. The estimated impact of this transaction would be a loss on sale of US$10.5m and a reduction in net
assets of US$10.5m. At the date of this report the Trust is still in the process of determining the overall impact of this

settlement.

On the 15 July 2011, the sale of 9700 Harlem Avenue, Bridgeview was finalised. The property was sold for $1.9m
{US$2.0m) before costs.

Cther than the items mentioned above at the date of this report, no matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2011
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the:

(a) Trust's operations in future financial years; or
{b) Results of those operations in future financial years; or
(c) Trust's state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

In the opinion of the Directors, it would prejudice the interests of the consolidated entity to provide additional information
relating to likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity, and the expected results of those operations in
financial years subsequent to 30 June 2011.

insurance of officers
During the year, the Responsible Entity has not indemnified, or entered into any agreement indemnifying against a liability,

any person who is or who has been an officer of the Responsible Entity of the Trust. No insurance premiums are paid for out
of the assets of the Trust in regards to insurance cover provided to Mirvac Funds Management Limited.
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Fees paid to the responsible entity or its associates

Fees paid to the Responsible Entity out of the Trust during the year were $2.5m (2010: $2.9m). Fees charged by the
Responsible Entity represent Responsible Entity’s remuneration and recovery of costs. No fees were paid out of the Trust to
the Directors of the Responsible Entity during the year.

Fees paid to the Responsible Entity and its associates out of the Trust during the year are disclosed in note 22.
Directors’ interests
No Directors held units in the Trust during the financial year.

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required by Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 11 and forms part of this report.

Rounding of amounts

The Trust is of the kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission
(“ASIC"), relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, uniess otherwise stated.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

/7 ’ii)Sf\ & L

Paul Barker
Chairman

Sydney

23 August 2011
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Mirvac Industrial Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011, I declare that
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the andit; and
b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Mirvac Industrial Trust and the entities it controlled during the period.

Y/

Jane Reilly Sydney
Partner 23 Angust 2011
PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney, Australia

T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwe.com.ait

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



Mirvac Industrial Trust
Corporate governance statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Introduction

This statement sets out the key corporate governance principles adopted by Directors in governing Mirvac Funds
Management Limited (“MFML") and reflects the corporate governance policies and practices in place throughout the yéar
ended 30 June 2011.

MFML is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mirvac Limited ("Mirvac”) and, as a matter of good corporate governance, MFML
exists for the specific purpose of acting as responsible entity, trustee or manager, and has the benefit of the resources of

Mirvac.

MFML is the responsible entity of Mirvac Industrial Trust ("MIX or/ the Trust"). MIX is listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange ("ASX") and the ASX Listing Rules require all listed entities to report on the extent to which their corporate
governance practices follow the principles and recommendations contained in the ASX Corporate Governance Council's
publication “Principles of Geed Corporate Govemance and Best Practice Recommendations” which was issued in March
2003 and subsequently revised through “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, 2nd Edition™ and further
updated in 2010 (“Recommendations”). '

During the year ended 30 June 2011, we consider our corporate governance framework to be consistent with the
Recommendations in all aspects unless disclosed cotherwise. Copies of MFML's corporate governance policies and
practices, as suggested by the Recommendations, are available from Mirvac's website at www.mirvac.com.

2 Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Responsibilities of the Board and management

(i)  Primary objective of the Board
The primary objective of MFML is to build long-term investor value for the funds and trusts for which it acts as responsible

entity and/or trustee or manager. The Board of MFML achieves this by setting strategic direction, focusing on issues critical
to the success of the funds and the management of risk.

(i)  Board Charter

MFML has established comprehensive standards of corporate governance and adopted a Board Charter outlining the
Board's accountabilities and responsibilities. The Charter alse outlines the responsibilities delegated to management.
Directors’ profiles and their tenure are shown below. A copy of the MFML Board Charter is available on Mirvac’s website at

wWww.mirvac.com.

Non-Executive Directors have spent approximately 25 days in the 2011 financial year on MFML Board activities and
business, including attendance at MFML Board meetings and meeting with management, especially in relation to activities of
MIX.

The Chief Executive Officer Investment (“CEQ Investment”) and other senior executives provide reports, which include
financial performance and activities of MIX and relaied matters te each MFML Board meeting. The MFML Board monitors
the performance of MIX on a regular basis to gain assurance that progress is being made towards attainment of the
approved strategies and plans.

(iii) Delegation to Senior executives _
The MFML Board has delegated responsibility for the day to day management and administration of MIX to the CEO
Investment assisted by the MIX management team. The CEQ Investment and the management team operate in accordance

with Board-approved policies and limits of delegated authority.

{iv) Evaluation of performance of senior executives

MFML has no employees. The performance of senior executives in Mirvac is reviewed on an annual cycle, with an interim
six monthly review. This is part of Mirvac's performance management system, which is in place for all Mirvac employees. A
performance evaluation of all senior executives of Mirvac was completed during the year ended 30 June 2011

Further information on performance evaluation and remuneration (including assessment criteria} is set out in the Mirvac
remunerafion report in the Mirvac Group Annual Report.

3 Principle 2 - Structure of the Board to add value

(a) Structure of the Board
The MFML Beard has a maijority of independent directors.

Andrew Paul Butler was appointed as Executive Director on 13 December 2010. Kenneth Ross Strang and Nicholas
Collishaw resigned as Directors during the financial year ended 30 June 2011.
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Details of the current Directors are;

Paul Barker

B.Bus, FCA, ACIS

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Paul is Chairman of the Transport Accident Commission, Deputy Chairman of the Victorian WorkCover Authority, Chairman
of the Emergency Services Telecommunications Authority, a former director of Employment National Limited and a past
Chairman of the Victorian division of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and Stadium Operations Ltd (Etihad Stadium).

Paul has extensive experience in accounting and financial services both in Australia and overseas. Formerly Chief Executive
of Audit Victoria, he also held senior group executive positions with Standard Chartered Bank in Hong Kong, Singapore and
London. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ausfralia and a member of the Institute of Chartered

Secretaries.

Paul was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Chairman to the Board of MFML on 1 April 2007,

Matthew Hardy

BSc ARICS, AAPI

Independent Non-Executive Director

Matthew has been a Partner in property and finance search and consultancy firm Conari Pariners and its corporate
predecessor, Thomas Hardy, since 2002. He has over 25 years experience in direct real estate, equities and funds

management.

In addition to working as a valuer and consultant in direct property in the UK and Australia for global groups Richard Ellis
and Jones Lang Wootton, Matthew has worked as a senior REIT analyst for Hambros Equities and as a Director of Property
Investments for Barclays Global Investors where he managed the property securities funds in addition to listed and
wholesale funds. Matthew has also been General Manager of the listed Capital Property Trust, a separately listed fund until
its stapling with Mirvac in 1999,

Matthew became an Independent Non-Executive Director of MFML on 4 September 2009,

Andrew Butler
B.APP.Sc (Land Economiics), GradD.rp Management, AAPI

Executive Director
Andrew Butler has been with Mirvac for 16 years and is currently responsible for Mirvac's various real estate investment

businesses such as MIX, Mirvac Property Trust, Mirvac Wholesale Hotel Fund, Mirvac Asset Management and the Capital
Transaction Team.

Andrew has been involved in property investment, development, acquisitions and property funds management for more than
22 years. He has extensive experience in commercial, retail, industrial and hotel property throughout Australia, New Zealand

and the US.

Prior to his appointment as CEQ Investment, Andrew served as Director Investment, Director, Listed and Unlisted Funds,
Director, MREIT and Director, Property Acquisiticns and Agency Services for Mirvac. Prior to joining Mirvac, Andrew worked
at Stanton Hillier Parker in valuations and consultancy.

Andrew Bulter was appointed as Executive Director of MFML on 13 December 2010,

{b) Independence of Directors
The MFML Board has developed a policy, contained in the MFML Board Charter, to determine the independence of its
Directors. This determination is conducted annually or at any other time where the circumstances of a Director change

warrant reconsideration.

{c) Role of the Chairman
The MFML Board Charter provides that the Chairan must be an !ndependent, Non-Executive Director. The role of the

MFML Chairman and CEQO Investment is not performed by the same person. The MFML Chaiman, Paul Barker, is an
Independent, Non-Executive Director. The Chairman’s specific role is detailed in the MFML Beoard Charter and includes:
providing leadership to the Board

ensuring efficient organisation and conduct of the Board

monitoring Board Performance

facilitating Board discussions to ensure core issues facing MFML are addressed

briefing all Directors in relation to issues arising at Board meetings

facilitating the effective contribution and ongoing development of all Directors

chairing Unitholder meetings.

The Board has formalised its roles and responsibilities in the MFML Board Charter, to promote high standards of corporate
governance and to clarify those requirements of the Board and those that are delegated to management.
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(d) Board Committees

In order to achieve operational efficiencies, the Board has established a number of Committees and delegated certain
powers to those Committees in accordance with MFML's Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001. The delegated
powers have been clearly delineated in a Limits of Authority document and the Charters of the relevant Committee, and

approved by the MFML Board,
The Board has established the following Standing Committees:

> - Executive Committee;
> Investment Committees; and
>  Risk Management Committee.

In addition MFML Board has adopted the Mirvac Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

Each Committee has adopted its own terms of reference or Charter, approved by the MFML Board, setting out matters
relevant to its composition and responsibilities. The terms of reference and Charters are reviewed regularly.

Investment Committee — MIX (“Investment Commiltes”)
The key responsibilities and activities of the Investment Commlttee are as follows:

>  recommending the overall investment strategy for MIX;

> monitoring investment markets in which the business operates and recommending the acquisition, capital expenditure
and disposal of assets;

>  monitoring investment performance and ensuring compliance with the investment strategy;

>  monitoring implementation of, and compliance with, the risk management framework and approved policies; and

>  ensuring, investigating and reviewing valuation of the assets of MIX.

The membership of the Investment Commitiee has been carefully determined to provide the relevant experience and
expertise appropriate to MIX's investments. The Investment Committee is accountable to the MFML Board and will report to
the MFML Board and provide appropriate advice and recommendations

(e) Nominations

The MFML Board considers selection and appointment of Directors is an important task and is the responsibility of the entire
Board to consider Director selection and appointments. While the Board may engage external experts to assist, the
nominations process will remain the function of the Board. The Board's approach to the nomination process is documented
and forms a part of the MFML Board Charter.

A copy of the MFML Board Charter is available on Mirvac's website at www.mirvac.com.

The Board seeks to have a mix of skills and diversity across its members, financial expertise, industry experience, technical
expertise, all related to MFML’s current and future business and independence. The skills mix required will change from
time to time as MFML's business and environment changes.

(f) Retirement and re-election of Directors

MFML does not set a fixed term of office for its Directors. The mix of experience and expertise of the current Directors is of
value to MFML and it does not wish to arbitrarily limit their terms of office. Nominating a fixed term for Directors may cause
loss of experience and expertise, which is not in the best interest of MFML nor unitholders of MIX.

{g) MFML Board and Director performance evaluation
The MFML Chairman, supported by the Company Secretary of MFML, undertakes an annual review of:

the Board's role;

the Board's processes and the Committees appointed to support the Board;
the Board's performance, including the performance of its Committees; and
each individual Director's performance.

VVvyvVvy

The process entails obtaining feedback from each MFML Director through a questionnaire that remains confidential and
anonymous. The MFML Board then reviews the report prepared by the Chairman, determining actions required as relevant
or necessary.

(h} Induction

Management and the Board provide new Directors with an induction program. This includes meetings with senior
executives, briefings on strategy, independent meetings with Mirvac's external auditors, provision of all relevant corporate
governance material and Policies and discussions with the Chairman and other Directors.
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(i) Continuing Education

Directors are provided with continuing education opportunities to update and enhance their skills and knowledge, to
understand MFML's operations and briefings on any key changes to the indusiry and environment in which MFML's funds
and trusts operate. Directors are also encouraged to access external education including Director reiated and industry

conferences.

{ij) Access to information and independent advice

As detailed in the MFML Board Charter, the MFML Board and its Committees may seek independent advice whenever it is
considered appropriate. Individual Directors, with the consent of the MFML Chairman, may seek independent professional
advice on any matter connected to their responsibilities as an MFML Director, at MFML's expense

The MFML Directors have access to senior executives and the Company Secretary at any time to request any relevant
information.

(k) Conflicts of interest
The Recommendations for Board members dealing with conflicts of interests are detailed in the MFML Board Charter. In
addition, Mirvac's Code of Conduct and Ethical Business Behaviours {the “Code"} also set down guidelines for dealing with

conflicts of interest that may arise, particularly for management and other employees.

Unless the Board determines otherwise, a Director with any actual or potential conflict of interest in relation to a matter
before the Board, does not:

. receive any Board papers in relation to that matter; and

. participate in any discussion or decision making in relation to that matter

4 Principle 3 — Promote ethical and responsible decision making
(a) Responsibilities of the Board and Management

(i)  Conduct and ethics — code of conduct

Integrity is one of Mirvac’s core values. In Mirvac’s 39 year history it has built a reputation for integrity and in dealing fairly,
honestly and transparently with all stakeholders. MFML has adopted the Code which espouses its core values and reflects
the Recommendations in terms of the matters addressed. The Code applies to the MFML Board, management and all
‘employees. A copy of the Code is available from Mirvac's website at www.mirvac.com.

Mirvac has implemented the Whistleblower and Open Line Policy, which assists in creating an ethical environment where
employees may, in good faith, make a disclosure reporting what they believe to be improper conduct without any adverse
action being taken against the discloser. The Policy applies tc all employees and outlines the processes for reporting alleged
improper conduct (including anonymous disclosures and outlines the ways in which Mirvac will protect disclosers.

(i)  Security Trading Policy

Mirvac has implemented a Security Trading Policy which has been adopted by the MFML Board, covers dealings in Mirvac
Securities including units in MIX, by Directors, executives and other designated employees, as well as their respective
assoclates. Designated persons may only deal in Mirvac securities, or units in MIX, with prior approval to do so, or in
securities of other public listed entities that are related to Mirvac, outside certain periods as identified in the Policy.
Notwithstanding this, no Director, executive or other employee may deal in Mirvac securities or units in MIX, if they are in
possession of price sensitive information. Any securities dealing in Mirvac securities or units in MIX, by Directors is notified
to the ASX within five business days of the dealing.

The Security Trading Policy was updated on 21 December 2010 fo ensure it complies with ASX Listing Rule 12.9 which was
introduced on 1 January 2011.

A copy of the Security Trading Policy is available at Mirvac's website wvwv.mirvac.com

(i}  Political donations

The Election Funding, Expenditure and Disclosures Act 1981 (amended in 2008) prohibits property developers from making
political donations. Mirvac has in place a Political Donations Policy, which prohibits Mirvac and any Mirvac employee from
making any political donation on behalf of Mirvac. During the year ended 30 June 2011, MFML made no political donations.

(iv) Diversity

MFML does not have any employees and therefore does not have a diversity policy. Relevant staff that provide services to
MFML. but are employees of Mirvac {including the CEO Investment} are subject to the Mirvac Diversity Policy a copy of
which is available at Mirvac's website: vavw.mirvac.com,
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5 Principie 4 — Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
{a) Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (“ARCC")

(it  ARCC Charler
MFML Board has adopted the Mirvac ARCC which has its own Charter, a copy of which is available from Mirvac's website at

www.mirvac.com

(i)  ARCC role

The objective of the ARCC is to assist the MFML Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in
relation to financial reporting, systems of intemal control and the management of risk, internal and external audit functions,
compliance obligations and processes for monitoring compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the Mirvac Code of
Conduct. It is the ARCC's role, in conjunction with the external auditors, to ensure that the financial statements and
disclosures are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
law. The ARCC is also responsible for making recommendations to the MFML Board regarding the selection and
appointment of the extemnal auditor and the rotation of external audit engagement partners, as outlined in the ARCC Charter

and section 8(b) below.

(i) ARCC composition

The ARCC consists of seven members. Members are appointed by the MGR Board and all members are independent. The
members of the ARCC as at 30 June 2011 are James Millar {Chair), Paul Barker, James MacKenzie, Peter Hawkins, John
Mulcahy, Elana Rubin and Richard Turner. Each member of the ARCC has the technical expertise to enable the ARCC to
effectively discharge its mandate. The Chair of the ARCC, James Millar, is the former Chief Executive Officer of Emst &
Young. Further details of the members’ qualifications can be found in Mirvac’s Annual Report. Paul Barker, Chairman of
MFML, has been appointed a member of the ARCC. Paul Barker is independent and is a Chartered Accountant. He has
extensive experience in accounting and financial services both in Australia and overseas. Richard Tumer, an external
consultant was previously an independent member of the MGR Board, retiring in August 2009. He is a Chartered Accountant
by profession and is the former Chief Executive Officer of Emst & Young with over 35 years with the firm. He has significant

experience in accounting.

The ARCC regularly meets with the external auditors without management present. Details of attendance of the members of
the ARCC are contained in the following table:

Meetings held during Meetings attended during

Member the year as a member the year as a member
Peter Hawkins 10 10
Paul Barker® 1 1
James MacKenzie 10 10
James Millar (Chair) 10 10
John Mulcah1y 10 10
Elana Rubin 2 2
Richard Turner 10 8

1 Elzna Rubin appointed te the committee on 15 April 2011.
2z Paul Barker appainted to the committee on 1.June 2011.

(iv) ARCC responsibilities
The ARCC Charter sets out the responsibilities of the ARCC.

(v) Compliance

Previously, MFML had established a Compliance Committee reporting to both the ARCC and MFML. The ARCC has now
taken direct responsibility for monitoring and reviewing the Compliance Plans of Mirvac’s registered managed investment
schemes and wholly-owned controlled entities holding Australian Financial Services {"AFS”) licences, in addition to

overseeing their adherence to all applicable laws and regulations.

6 Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

(a) Commitment to disclosure

MFML, as responsible entity for MIX, is committed to ensuring:

. compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements;

. accountability at a senior executive/management level for compliance with continuous disclosure requirements;

. the facilitation of an efficient and informed market in MIX securities by keeping the market appraised through ASX
announcements of all material information; and compliance with the requirements of the Corporations Act, ASX Listing
Rules and the Recommendations.
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(b) Continuous Disclosure Policy

Mirvac's Continuous Disclosure Policy, which has been adopted by MFML Board, is designed to support its commitment to a

fully informéd market in its securities by ensuring that announcements are: .

. made to the market (via the ASX Company Announcements platform) in a timely manner, are factual and contain all
relevant material information; and

U expressed in a clear and objective manner that allow investors to assess the impact of the information when making
investment decisions.

The CEOQO Investment, Trust Manager - MIX and other persons are responsible for compliance with MIX's continuous
disclosure obligations and for overseeing and coordinating disclosures to the ASX. A copy of Mirvac’s Continuous Disclosure
Policy applicable to MFML as Responsible Entity for MiX, is available at Mirvac’'s website www.mirvac.com.

7 Principle 6: Respect the rights of unitholders

(a) Communication policy

All MIX ASX announcements are posted to Mirvac’s website including half year and annual reports, results releases, market
briefings, notices of meetings and the MIX property compendium. Teleconferencing and webcasting facilities are provided
for market briefings to encourage participation from all stakeholders, regardless of location.

Mirvac’s communications policy as adopted by MFML, is available at Mirvac’s website: www.mirvac.com.
8 Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
{a) Risk management policies

(i  Risks

MFML recognises the responsibility associated with its role as responsible entity of MIX and in recognising that risk
management is a key element of effective corporate governance the MFML Board has established a Mirvac Investment
Management Risk Management Committee. MFML's objective is to ensure relevant risks are identified and appropriate
measures are implemented to mitigate or otherwise manage the impact those risks may have on the MIX's activities

(i)  Risk management policy
The MFML Board has adopted a risk management policy statement and associated procedures for identifying, assessing
and managing Mirvac's strategic, operational, financial and reputational risks.

The objectives of the policy are to:

e provide a systematic approach to risk management aligned to the Group’s strategic objectives;

¢ define the mechanisms by which the Group determines its risk appetite and considers and manages risks; and
« articulate the roles and accountabilities for the management, oversight and governance of risk.

The approach defined within this policy is consistent with the: Australian and New Zealand standard on risk management
(fSO 31000: 2010). The policy applies to all legal entities within the Mirvac Group to enable an enterprise wide approach to
managing risk to be applied.

Supporting the policy is a framewark that has been prepared to provide direction in addressing risk exposures through a
structured implementation of risk management processes.

A copy of this policy is available on Mirvac's website at www.mirvac.com.

{iii)  Risk management responsibility
The application of Mirvac's policies and procedures to manage risk is ultimately the responsibility of the MFML Board which
has, in turn, delegated specific authority to the ARCC (as more fully detailed in the ARCC charter).

The ARCC advises the MFML Board on risk management and is responsible for reviewing policies for approval by the
MFML Board and for reviewing the effectiveness of the approach to risk management. Risk management is specifically
reviewed at least quarterly by the ARCC.

(iv) Risk management function
Mirvac's risk management function, ied by the Mirvac’s Chief Risk Officer, has been established to facilitate the risk

management process by providing a centralised role in advising the various business units on executing risk management
and mitigation strategies, as well as consolidating risk reporting to the senior management, the ARCC and ultimately the

MFML Board.

MFML Board has been advised of the effectiveness of the management of material business risks.
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{v) Role of internal audit
Internal audit's role is to assess risks and controls, enhance processes and moenitor controls to provide assurance to the

ARCC and the MFML Board that material risks and compliance obligations are being effectively managed. The Head of
Internal Audit has open access to the ARCC and its Chairman at all fimes. Mirvac’s approach to risk management is to
establish an effactive control environment to manage material risks to its business. A material risk is defined as having a
high probability that an action, inaction or natural event may hinder or prevent the achievement of key business objeclives.
Mirvac's risk management and intemal control systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that:

e risk exposures are identified and adequately monitored and managed through appropriate risk mitigation measures;

* financial, management and operational information is accurate, relevant, timely and reliable; and

e there is adequate compliance with policies, standards, procedures and appticable laws, regulations and licences.

{vi) Operational risks

The CEO Investment, supported by senior management, is responsible for implementing and maintaining effective risk
management and interna! control systems for operational risks that arise from MIX's activities. To ensure consistent and
effective practices are employed, a risk register detailing the key risks facing MIX is maintained.

(vii} Financial risks

The ARCC reports to the MFML Board in relation to the integrity of the MIX’s financial reporting, internal control structure,
risk management systems as well as the intemal and external audit functions. Management also provides assurance to the
MFML Board and the ARCC on the effectiveness of the MIX’s risk management and internal control systems for financial

reporting risks.

The ARCC also oversees and reports to MFML Boards on the specific risks and compliance requirements arising from the
activities of the MFML's AFS licence and respective registered managed investment schemes.

(b} External auditor relationship

{)  Role of ARCC
The ARCC is responsible for overseeing the relationship with MIX’'s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, including the

terms of engagement of the external auditor and the scope of the external audit program each year. The ARCC is also
responsible for monitoring and evaluating the performance and independence of the external auditor and the provision of
non-audit services.

(i)  Auditor independence

The MFML Board has adopted a policy and practice protocol for auditor independence which forms part of the ARCC's
Charter published on Mirvac's website www.mirvac.com. It is Mirvac's policy to engage the best available professional
advisors at the most competitive price. This policy must, however, be applied within the context of maintaining the
independence of Mirvac's extenal auditors. It is PricewaterhouseCoopers’ policy to rotate audit engagement partners on
listed companies at least every five years, and in accordance with that policy a new audit engagement partner was

introduced for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The ARCC Policy endorses the fundamental principle of auditor independence that, in order to be eligible to undertake any
non-audit related services, the external auditor must not, as a result of that assignment:

. create a mutual or conflicting interest with that of Mirvac;

. -audit their own work;

. act in a management capacity or as an employee; or

. act as an advocate for Mirvac Group.

The Policy also details the services that the extemal auditor is prohibited from performing.

(i)  Certificate of independence
PricewaterhouseCoopers provides the ARCC with a half yearly and annual certification of its continued independence, in

accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, and in particular confirms it did not carry out any services or
assignments during the year ended 30 June 2011 that were not compatible with auditor independence.

(iv) Non-audit services

In addition to the audit partner rotation and appointment requirements set out in the Policy and in the Corporations Act 2001,
the ARCC reviews and approves, or declines, as considered appropriate before the engagement commences, any individual
engagement for non-audit services involving fees exceeding $100,000. Below this amount, approval, or otherwise as
considered appropriate, is delegated to the Chief Financial Officer. No work will be awarded to the external auditor if the
ARCC believes such work would give rise to a "self review threat” (as defined in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants) or would create a conflict, or perceived conflict, of interest for the external auditor or any member of the audit
team, or would otherwise compromise the Auditor's independence requirements under the Corporations Act 2001.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is provided in the
note 19 to the financial statements.
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(c) Assurances
The CEO Investment and Financial Controller Investments have provided the following assurance to the MFML Board in

connection with MIX’s annual year end financial statements and reports, namely that in their opinion, to the best of their

knowledge and belief:
. the financial records of MIX for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been properly maintained in accordance with

section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001,
. MIX's financial statements, and the notes to those statements, for the year ended 30 June 2011 comply with the

relevant accounting standards;

. MIX's financial statements, and the notes to those statements, for the year ended 30 June 2011 give a true and fair
view of the financial position, operational results and the performance of MIX;

. the statements referred to in the points above are founded on a sound system of risk management and internal
compliance and contrel which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and

. MIX’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material respects in
relation to financial reporting risks.

9 Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
As noted above MFML has no employees and therefore, the Board has not established a separate remuneration committee.

The remuneration of MFML Executive Directors, employed by Mirvac, is in accordance with Mirvac’s HRC Charter which is
available on Mirvac's website www.mirvac.com.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is fixed and is paid according to the role of the Non-executive Director.

None of the Non-Executive Directors of MFML participate in unvested entitlements under any equity-based remuneration
scheme of Mirvac, or are entitled to retirement benefits, other than superannuation.

10 Conclusion

The MFML Board is satisfied with its level of compliance and corporate govemnance requirements. However, the Board
recognises that processes and procedures require continual monitoring and improvement. MFML's corporate governance
framework will be updated as changes occur in the regulatory environment, to ensure that it remains effective and compliant.
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These financial statements cover the financial statements for the consolidated entity consisting of Mirvac Industrial Trust and
its controlled entities. The financial statements are presented in Australian currency.

The Responsible Entity of Mirvac Industrial Trust is Mirvac Funds Management Limited (ABN 78 067 417 663), a company
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is: _

Mirvac Funds Management Limited
Level 26, 60 Margaret Street
Sydney, NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Director's
report on pages 6 to 10 which is not part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 23 August 2011. The Directors have the power to
amend and reissue the financial statements.

Through the use of the intemet, the Trust have ensured that its corporate reporting is timely and complete. All press
releases, financial reports and other information are available in the Investor Information section on the Trust's website:

wWww.mirvac.com/mix.
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2011 2010

Note $°000 $'000
Revenue from continuing operations
Investment properties rental revenue 52,528 63,383
Interest revenue 101 45
Total revenue from continuing operations 52,629 63,428
Other income
Net gain on financial instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss 43 2,115
Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment properties 28,259 -
Net gain on foreign currency 817 833
Total other income 29,119 2,948
Total revenue from continuing operations and other income 81,748 66,376
Investment properties expenses (20,836) (23,215}
Net loss on sale of investment properties {55} -
Net loss from fair value adjustments on investment properties - (44,682)
Finance costs (23,321) (23,261)
Management fees 22 {2,152) (2,518)
Other expenses 5 {4,411) (3,622}
Profit/{loss) before income tax 30,973 {30,922)
Withholding tax 4 (132) 15
Total tax (expense)/benefit (132) 15
Profit/(loss) for the year 30,841 (30,907)
Profit/(loss) for the year is attributable to:
Unitholders of Mirvac Industrial Trust 30,841 (30,907)
Other comprehensive income for the year
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations’ (10,735) (5,160)
Total comprehensive income for the year 20,106 (36,087)
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Unitholders of Mirvac Industrial Trust 20,097 (36,106}
Non-controlling interest 9 39

20,106 (36,067)

Basic eamings per unit {cents) 17 8.51 (8.53)
Diluted eamings per unit (cents) 17 8.51 (8.53)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income sheuld be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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At 30 June 2011
2011 2010

§ = Note $'000 $'000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 21,134 12,938
Receivables 7 2,508 3,630
Other assets 8 2,826 727
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 10 52,239 -
Derivative financial instruments 13 - 361
Total current assets 78,707 17,656
Non-current assets
Investment properties - 11 354,222 474,338
Total non-current assets 354,222 474 338
Total assets 432,929 491,994
Current liabilities
Payables 12 21,034 25,180
Derivative financial instrumenis 13 - 157
Borrowings 14 252,048 232,540
Total current liabilities 273,082 257,877
Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 13 - 403
Borrowings 14 88,191 182,155
Total non-current liabilities . 88,191 182,558
Total liabllities 361,273 440,435
Net assets 71,656 51,559
Equity
Contributed equity 15 341,544 341,544
Reserves 16 {26,136) (15,401)
Undistributed loss 16 (243,752) (274,593)
Capital and reserves attributable to the unitholders of Mirvac Industrial Trust 71,856 51,550
Non-controlling interest - 9
Total equity 71,656 51,559

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2011

Attributable to unitholders of
Mirvac Industrial Trust

Non-
Issued Retained controlling
Capital Reserves Earnings Interest Total

Note $°000 $°000 $'000 $'0300 $'000
Bailance 1 July 2009 341,544 {10,241)  {243,686) 48 87,665
Net loss for the year - - (30,907) - (30,907)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations 16 - (5,160} - - (5,160}
Total comprehensive income for the year - {5,160) {30,907} - (36,067)
Distribution paid/payabie to non-controlling
interest - - (39) {39}
Total transactions with unitholders in their
capacity as unitholders - - - {39) {39)
Balance 30 June 2010 341,544 (15,401)  {274,593) 9 51,559
Net profit for the year - - 30,841 - 30,841
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations 16 - {10,735) - - {10,735)
Total comprehensive income for the year - {10,735) 30,841 - 20,106
Distribution paid/payable to non-controlling
interest - - - {(9) {2)
Total fransactions with unitholders in their
capacity as unitholders - - - {9} (9)
Balance 30 June 2011 341,544 (26,136)  (243,752) - 71,656

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

2011 2010
Note $°000 $'000

Cash fiows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 50,020 61,722

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) {27,999) {31,152}

22,021 30,570

Withholding tax (paid)/refunded {132) 15

Interest received 101 45

Finance costs paid {20,388) (23,125)
Net cash inflows from operating activities . 24 1,602 7,505

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures on investment properties {2,453} (3,169)
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 2,318 -

Net cash outflows from investing activities (135) {3,169)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 85,106 -

Repayments of borrowings (76,327) (9,920}
Proceeds from extinguishment of foreign exchange contracts 817 203

Distributions paid to non-controlling interest in controlled entities {31) {35)
Net cash inflows/{outflows) outflows from financing activities 9,565 {9,752)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,032 (5,416}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 12,938 18,819

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {2,836) {465)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 21,134 12,938

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
of the Trust consist of the consolidated financial statements of Mirvac Industrial Trust and its controlled entities.

{a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Trust's Constitution, Australian
Accounting Standards ("AAS"), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB"),
Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001,

The Directors of the Responsible Entity have the'power to amend and reissue the financial report.

()  Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS”)
The financial statements of Mirvac Industrial Trust and its controlled enfities also comply with IFRS as issued by the

International Accounting Standard Board (*IASB”).

(i)  Historical cosf convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit

or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment properties.

(iii) ~ Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AAS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies. The areas
involving -a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

financial statements are disclosed in note 2.

(iv) Comparafive information
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to achieve consistency in disclosure with current year

amounts and other disclosures.

(v} Rounding of amounts
The Trust is of the kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission,

relating to the “rounding off’ of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded
to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, unless otherwise stated.

(vi) Goods and services tax (‘GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating

cash flows.
(b) Going concern

The financial report for the Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011 has been prepared on a going concern basis. After
reviewing the Trust's going concem status the Directors of the Responsible Entity have concluded that the Trust has
reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. Since 30 June 2011
the conditions that existed which gave rise to material uncertainty to the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern have
been resolved as a result of the refinancing of the Trust's debt as well as binding agreements entered into (see below) and
set out in note 1(b) of the financial statements.

Ongoing Risks
The following engoing risks have now been resolved that would have affected Trust's future performance:

() CJF4, LLC loan expired 1 July 2011 (Fixed Dabt facility)

Background

The Fixed Debt facility of CJF4 LLC (“CJF4"), a controlled entity of the Trust totalling $134.2m (US$144.1m) matured on 1
July 2011 and was not repaid meaning the borrower, CJF4 LLC, pursuant to the terms of the Fixed Debt facility, was in

default.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

The Fixed Debt facility is secured by 30 assets with a collateral value at 30 June 2011 of $152.3m and borrowings of
$134.2m. Further detail on the Trust's secured assets and borrowings are detailed in note 11 and note 14 to the financial

statements.

The Responsible Entity had been in negotiations with KTR WIM LLC and KTR WM Il LLC (“KTR") in relation to the CJF4
facility that was due and payable on 1 July 2011 (US time). To facilitate negotiations, KTR and CJF4 entered into a mutual
short-term Forbearance Agreement (the “Agreement”) on 2 July 2011. The negotiations with KTR resulted in the execution
of a binding agreement on 31 July 2011 (US time).

The binding agreement required CJF4 to transfer ownership of all 30 CJF4 properties on an “as is, where is” basis to KTR in
exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligation to repay $134.2m (US$144.1m) under the CJF4 facility, plus
consideration of US$5.0m being paid by KTR to CJF4. Settlement of the transaction occurred on 5 August 2011 (US time).

The Responsible Entity believes the binding agreement reached with KTR represents the best outcome for Trust unitholders
as no superior commercial transactions were capable of being undertaken given the highly levered nature of the CJF4
portfolio and its lower asset quality relative to the Trust's other asset pools.

Assets realised at less than fair value at balance date

The net assets of CJF4 at 30 June 2011 amount to $15.4m (this equated to $0.04 of net tangible assets per unit). The NTA
balance for CJF4 at 30 June 2011 is predominantly attributed to the increase through revaluations of the CJF4 properties at
30 June 2011. Whilst the valuations were undertaken in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (refer to note 11)
these values did not reflect the commercial ability of the Trust to realise the values attributed to these properties given the
highly levered nature of the CJF4 portfolic and the immediate need to pay off its associated debt. As noted above the Trust
received net consideration after repayment of the debt and before associated costs of US$5.0m.

(i} Loans refinanced for CMBS 1 ($109.4m) and Floating Inferest Cap ($5.6m), Sale of Elwood Assets

The Responsible Entity has repaid its loan facilities CMBS 1 ($109.4m) and Floating Interest Cap ($5.6m) held by CJF1 LLC
{“CJF1") and replaced them with a Fixed Debt loan facility with ING USA Annuity and Life Insurance Company (“ING") on 1
July 2011 (US time). The value of the refinanced facility for this controlled entity of the Trust is $59.6m {US$64.0m).

Included with the repayment of CJF1 loan facilities outstanding principal was an agreed amount of $2.8m (US$$3.0m) for six
months of default interest as a consequence of CMBS1 being in maturity default from 7 August 2010 (approximately 11
months). The late payment charge of $5.8m (US$6.2m), representing 5 per cent of the unpaid amount, was not imposed by
the CJF1 loan facilities special servicer.

The repayment was achieved using a combination of sources including the new loan from ING stated above, proceeds
before costs of $50.4m (US$54.1m) from the sale of the Trust's Elwood assets (27413 South Baseline Road and 21705-07
West Mississippi Street), a further $4.7m (US$5.0m) drawdown on the Mirvac Group Finance Limited {(“MGFL") loan and
cash at hand.

At 30 June 2011, CJF1 consisted of 14 assets with a value of $148.4m, of which 3 assets were held for sale. The new loan
facility with ING is secured by 10 assets which at 30 June 2011 were valued at a total of $92.5m (US$99.3m). The ING
facility is secured by the assets listed under note 11 in connection with CJF1 with the exception of the following four assets:
27413 South Baseline Road, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

. 21705-07 West Mississippi Street, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

) 9700 Harlem Ave, Bridgeview (sold 15 July 2011 US time); and

. 3145 Central Ave, Waukegan {remains an asset of CJF1 with no direct debt facility).

The key terms of the loan are as follows:

. A term of 4.8 years {the loan matures on 1 March 2031 but is callable on 1 March 2016, 1 March 2021 and 1 March
2026);

Fixed interest rate of 4,30 per cent per annum;

23.5 year amortisation of the Fixed Debt facility;

First mortgage security interest in all real property held by CJF1 with the exceptions noted above; and

Limited recourse to CJF1 and cross-collateralised between CJF2 and CJF3.

(i}  Other debf facilities

To implement the refinancing of the CJF1 loan facilities, the Responsible Entity received consent to a drawdown of a further

US$5.0m under the MGFL loan. As a result of the Trust drawing these funds under the MGFL loan, certain conditions of the

MGFL loan agreement were amended. These include:

) 100 per cent of the net proceeds from the future sale of 3145 Central Avenue, Waukegan, lllincis and 9700 Harlem
Avenue, Bridgeview, lllinois in return for MGFL waiving the requirement that 50 per cent of the net proceeds from the
sale of the two Elwood assets only be applied to the MGFL loan; and

® The maturity date of the MGFL loan was extended to 30 September 2012 {from 31 January 2012).
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The Trust repaid its loan facilities CMBS 2 US$64.8m held by CJF2 LLC ("CJF2"} and Floating Debt US$9.9m held by CJF3
LLC (“CJF3") and replaced them with Fixed Debt loan facilities with ING. The loans for these contrclled entities of the Trust

were for US$77.9m for CJF2 and US$8.1m for CJF3.

Further details on the borrowings of the Trust can be found in note 14 and details on investment properties relating to the
borrowing can be found in note 11.

{iv) Derivative financial instruments
During the period derivative financial instruments have been extinguished such that no further asset or liability will be canied
going forward. The Trust is still subject to foreign exchange volatility in the normal course of business.

Net current liabilify position
As at 30 June 2011, the Trust is in a net current liability position of $194.4m. Current liabilities include debt facilities expired

and expiring totalling $252.0m (this includes default provision costs as discussed in note 14). Per the notes above the debt
facilities pertaining to CJF1 have been refinanced on 1 July 2011 and a settlement with KTR for CJF4 debt facility has
resulted in a reduction to the net current liability position of the Trust. The Directors of the Regponsible Entity have reviewed
the cash flow forecasts of the Trust and expect that the Trust will have sufficient cash flows to meet obligations as and when

they fall due.
{c) Principles of consolidation

(i}  Conirolled entities
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and labilities of all controlled entities of Mirvac Industrial Trust
(“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2011 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. Mirvac Industrial Trust

and its controlled entities are referred to in this financial report as the Trust.

Controlled entities are those entities over which the Trust has the power tc govern the financial and operating policies,
generally accompanying a unitholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Trust controls another entity.

Inter-company transactions and balances between consolidated entities are eliminated. Accounting policies of controlled
entities have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Trust.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of controlled entities are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position, respectively.

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentalion currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Trust's entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars, which is the Trust's presentation currency. The functional currency for the Trust’s controlled

entities is US dollars.

(i)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilittes denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(i) Foreign controlled entities ‘
The results and financial position of all the Trust entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° Assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of the reporting period;

. Income and expenses for each consolidated statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rate prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.,

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, a
proportionate share of such exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale where
applicable.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued})

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entities and translated at the closing rate.

{e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of
retums, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. The consclidated entity recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probably that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have
been met for each of the consolidated entity’s activities as described below. The consolidated entity bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i  Renlal revenue

Rental revenue for operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except when an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of service rendered through the provision of the leased premises.
Lease incentives offered under operating leases are amortised on a straight-line basis and offset against rental income.

(i}  Interest
Interest revenue is brought to account when earned, taking into account the effective yisld on the financial asset.

(i)  Dividends
Dividends are recognised as revenue on the date that the dividends and distributions are declared.

{iv) Sale of investment properties

The gain or loss on disposal of investment properties is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset at the time of the disposal and the proceeds on disposal and is included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the year of disposal. Income is recognised upon settlement, which has been determined to be

when risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer.

{f) Income Tax

Under current legislation, the Trust and its controlled entities are not liable for income tax, provided that unitholders are
presently entitled to income of the Trust as determined in accordance with the Trust's constitution. Tax allowances for
building and plant and equipment depreciation are distributed to unitholders in the form of a tax deferred component of the

distribution.

The Trust may ultimately realise a capital gain or loss on disposal which if not distributed, may attract a US income tax
liability. If the gain is distributed, a US withholding tax liability may arise and may give rise to a foreign tax credit which would
be available to unitholders. A deferred tax liability is recognised based on the temporary difference between the carrying
amount of the assets and their associated tax cost base.

(g) Expenses

(i)  Properly outgoings
Property outgoings including rates, taxes and other property outgoings (including maintenance and repairs} are brought to
account on an accruals basis.

(i}  Responsible Entity's fees
Fees payable to the Responsible Entity are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on an
accruals basis. Fees relating to specific events or transactions are charged upon completion or occurrence of the relevant

service or event.

(h) Leases incentives

Lease incentives provided under an operating lease are recognised on a straight-line basis against rental income. As these
incentives are repaid out of future iease payments, they are recognised as an asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a component of the carrying amount of investment properties and amortised over the lease period.

Where the investment property is supported by a valuation that incorporates the value of lease incentives, the investment
property is revalued back to the valuation amount after the lease incentive amortisation has been charged as an expense.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
(i) Acquilsition of assets

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, regardless of whether equity instruments or other
assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the
date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

{{) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to-known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. '

(k) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised inifially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs, less provision for
impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days of recognition. Collectability of trade
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for
impaiment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Trust will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent
period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against other expenses in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(Il Non-assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsegquent write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. A gain
is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

(m) Derivatives

Derivatives are Initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Trust has taken the view that the derivatives held do net qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in fair value of any
derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The fair value balance of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates

at the reporting date.
{n} Impairment of financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Investment properties

Investment properties, comprising of industrial buildings in the Chicago region, are held for long term rental yields and for
capital appreciation and are not occupied by the Trust. The carrying amount includes components relating to lease
incentives. '

Valuations
Investment properties are measured at cost plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured at fair value and

revalued every reporting date to ensure the carrying amount of each property does not differ materially from its fair value at
the reporting date. Changes in fair values are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Trust's constitution requires the Responsible Entity to have the consolidated entity’s property investments independently
valued at intervals of not more than two years. These valuations are considered by the Directors of the Responsible Entity
when determining fair value. When assessing fair value, the Directors will also consider the discounted cash flow of the
property, the highest and best use of the property and sales of similar properties.

Fair value is based on the price, at which a property might reasonably be expected to be sold at the date of valuation,
assuming:
. a willing, but not anxious, buyer and seller on an arm'’s length basis;
. a reasonable period in which to negotiate the sale, having regard to the nature and situation of the property and the
state of the market for property of the same kind;
. that the property will be reasonably exposed to that market;
that no account is taken of the value or other advantage or benefit, additional to the market value, to the buyer

incidental to ownership of the property being valued;

All investment properties are considered one class of assef. Accounting standards prohibit investment properties to be
depreciated.

(p) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust prior to the end of the year which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

{(q) Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds {net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities, which are not incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the facility. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities uniess the Trust
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting date.
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised-during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

{r) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, forward contracts and make good obligations are recognised when the Trust has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources wil! be required to settie the
obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the Trust's best estimate of the expenditure required to setile the present
obfigation at the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of ime is recognised as interest expense.

{s) Confributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3



Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{t) Distributions

In accordance with the Trust Constitution, the Trust fully distributes its distributable income to unitholders. Distributable
income is determined by reference to the taxable income of the Trust. The distributions are payable half-yearly.

Provision is made for the amount of any distribution declared, determined or publicly recommended by the Directors on or
before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at reporling date.

{u) Earnings per unit

(i)  Basic earnings per unit
Basic eamings per unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to unitholders of the Trust, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary units, by the weighted average number of ordinary units outstanding during the year.

(i)  Diluted earnings per unit
Diluted earnings per unit adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per unit to take into account the

impact of any dilutive potential ordinary unifs.
(v) Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity, Mirvac Industrial Trust, disclosed in note 25 has been prepared on the same
basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below.

Investments in controfled enlities
Investments in controlled entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent entity.

Dividends/distributions received from controlled entities are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being
deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

{w) New accounting standards and UIG interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2011
reporting periods. The Trust's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendmenis to AAS arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments fo
AAS arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) (effective from 1 January 2013).

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities. The Trust has not yet determined the impact of the change but does not believe the impact will be material. The
derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have
not been changed. The Trust has not yet decided when to adopt AASE 9.

Revised AASB 124 Related Parly Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to AAS (effective from 1 January 2011)

In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. It is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively. The amendment clarifies and simplifies the
definition of a related party. The Trust will apply the amended standard from 1 July 2011. When the amendments are
applied, the Trust will need to disclose any transactions between its controlled entities. However, there is not expected to be
any impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of AAS and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to AAS arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements (effective from 1 July 2013).

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised differential reporting framework in Australia. Under this framework,
a two-tier differential reporting regime applies to all entities that prepare general purpose financial statements. Mirvac
Industrial Trust is listed on the ASX and is nof eligible to adopt the new AAS — Reduced Disclosure Requirements. The two
standards will therefore have no impact on the financial statements.

AASB 2010-6 Amendments fo AAS - Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets (effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2011)

Amendments made to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in November 2010 introduce additional disclosures in
respect of risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets. The amendments will affect particularly entities that sell,
factor, securitise, lend or otherwise transfer financial assets to other parties. They are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Trust's disclosures. The Trust intends to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011,
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to AAS — Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assels (effective from 1 January 2012)

In December 2010, the AASB amended AASB 112 income Taxes to provide a practical approach for measuring deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the fair value model. AASB 112 requires the
measurement of deferred fax assets or liabilities to reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the way
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the relevant assets or liabilities, that is through use or
through sale. The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that investment property which is measured at fair value
is recovered entirely by sale. The Trust will apply the amendment from 1 July 2012. It is currently evaluating the impact of

the amendment.

The following pronouncements have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) however an
equivalent pronouncement has not yet been issued by the AASB. The Trust is currently assessing the impact of these

prenouncements:

- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements;
- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities; and
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements.

2 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated, based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact and are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the financial statements, the Trust is required to make estimations and assumptions. The following are the key
assumptions concemning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year:

{i)  Valuation of investment properiies

The Trust uses judgement in respect of the fair values of investment properties. Investment properties are revalued by
external valuers on a rotation basis with approximately one-half of the portfolio being vafued annually. Investment properties
which are not subject to an external valuation at the reporting date are fair valued internally by management. The
assumptions used in the estimations of fair values include expected future market rentais, discount rates, market prices and
economic conditions. The carrying value as at balance date for investment properties is $354m (2010: $474m). Details on

investment properties are provided in note 11.

The fair value of our investment properties in the United States of America have been adjusted to reflect market conditions
at the end of the reporting period. While this represents the best estimates of fair value as at the end of the reporting period,
the current uncertainty in this market means that if investment property is sold in the future, the price achieved may be
higher ar lower than the most recent valuation, or higher or lower than the fair value recorded in the financial statements,

(i)  Valuation of derivafives and other financial instruments

The Trust uses judgement in selecting the appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not quoted in an active
market. Valuation of derivative financial instruments involves assumptions based on quoted market rates adjusted for
specific features of the instrument. The valuations of any financial instrument may change in the event of market volatility.

3 Segmental information

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis. With the exception of derivatives held by the parent entity in Australia, the Trust operates solely within the United
States of America industrial property investment industry and consequently the financial report reflects the operations of this
segment alone.

Segment results are now reported in a manner that is consistent with the interal reporting provided to the Chief Operating
Decision Maker {*CODM"). The CODM that makes strategic decisions for the consolidated entity has been identified as the
Board of Directors of Mirvac Funds Management Limited as they are responsible for the strategic decision making for the
Trust. Net operating incomes are considered key indicators of analysis when evaluating the consolidated entity’s ability to
pay distributions to unitholders.
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

4 Income tax

Consolidated

2011 2010
$°'000 $°000
Income tax expense/{benefit) 132 {15}
132 {15)
Income tax expense is attributable to:
Increase/(decrease) in withholding tax 132 (15)
132 {15)
5 Other expenses
Consolidated
2011 2010
$'000 $'000
Audit fees (note 19) 515 506
Trust expenses 2,528 1,658
Amortisation 1,368 1,458
4,411 3,622
6 Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated
2011 2010
$°000 $°000
Cash at bank 18,543 11,618
Restricted cash 2,591 1,320
21,134 12,938

The cash balance above includes restricted cash totalling $2,591,086 (2010: $1,319,545). The restricted cash relates to
cash of CJF1 LLC, CJFZ LLC and CJF3 LLC (controlled entities of the Trust) that is available for capital expenditure upon

approval of the lender.

7 Receivables

Consolidated

2011 2010

$'000 $'000

Trade receivable 878 1,131
Provision for impairment (434) (438)
444 693

Other recgivable 2,064 2,937
2,508 3,630

{a) Trade receivable

The average credit period on trade receivable is 30 days. No interest is charged on any outstanding trade receivables. Refer
to note 7{d} on discussions regarding the credit risk of receivables.

(b} Other receivable

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside of the classification of trade receivables and loan related
transactions such as GST receivables and other sundry debtors.
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

7 Receivables (continued})
(c) Provision for impairment of receivables

(i)  Impaired frade receivables

As at 30 June 2011 the Trust has a provision for $434,095 (2010: $437,709). The individually impaired receivables mainly
relate to wholesalers, which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

(#)  Past due but not impaired
As at 30 June 2011, trade receivables of $443,515 (2010: $623,023) were past due but not impaired.

(d) Credit risk

Receivables consist of a large number of tenants. The Trust does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single
tenant or groups of tenants. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of tenants and, where
appropriate, a provision for impairment of receivables is raised. The Trust holds collateral in certain circumstances which
takes the form of bank guarantees or security deposits. There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to recsivables as
the Trust has a large number of tenants.

The ageing analysis of the Trust's trade receivables is as follows:

2011 2010

Provision for Provision for

Total impairment of Total impairment of

receivables receivables receivables receivables

_ - $’000 $'000 $'000 $000
Not past due 2,064 - 2,937 -
Less than 30 days 38 - 591 {18)
31 - 60 days 109 (84) 108 (18}
61— 90 days 104 : (42) 33 (25)
90+ days 627 (308) 399 (377)
2,942 {434) 4,068 {438)

Under certain circumstances, the Trust has not provided for all balances past due as it has been determined that there has
not been a significant change in credit quality at reporting date based upon the tenant’'s payment history and analysis of the
tenant's financial accounts.

The Trust holds collateral over receivables of $2m (2010: $3m). The fair value of the collateral held equals the fair value of
the receivables for which the collateral is held. The terms of the collateral are if payment due is not received per the agreed
terms, the Trust is able to claim the collateral held.

(e) Interest rate risk exposures

Refer to note 18 for the Trust's exposure to interest rate risk.

8 Other assefs

Consolidated

2011 2010
$'000 $000
Prepayments and cther assets 2,826 727
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Mirvac industrial Trust

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2011

9 Investment in controlled entities

The recoverable amount of the investment in controlied entities was determined as the fair value less costs to sell as this

was deemed to be the most appropriate valuation method.

Name of entity Country of Equity holding
incorporation 2011 2010
% %
Mirvac US Industrial Property Fund, Inc. USA 09.9' 99.9'
Mirvac US Industrial Property Trust USA 99.9' 99.9"
Mirvac Chicago Industrial, LLC? USA 100.0' 100.0'
1 Beneficial percentage held by economic entity.
2 Whelly owns CJF1 LLC, CJF2 LLC, CJF3 LLC and CJF4 LLC.
10 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Property Date 2011 2010
Acquired $°000 $'000
9700 South Hariem Avenue, Bridgeview Jul 2005 1,862 -
27413 South Baseline Road, Elwood Jul 2005 14,973 -
21705-07 West Mississippi Street, Elwood Jul 2005 35,404 -
52,239 -
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

11 Investment properties (continued)

(a) Valuations basis

Investment properties are carried at fair value, being the amounts for which the properties could be exchanged between
willing parties in an arm's length transaction, based on current prices in an active market for similar properties in the same
location and condition and subject to similar leases, with any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period. Investment properties are revalued by external valuers
on a rotation basis with approximately one-half of the portfolic being valued annually. Investment properties which are not
subject to an external valuation at the reporting date are fair valued internally by management. Valuation methods used to
determine the fair value of investment properties include market sales comparison, discount cash flow ("DCF”) and
capitalisation rate (“cap rate"}. The fair value for a property may be determined by the Trust using a combination of these

and other valuation methods.

Market sales comparison: The sales comparison approach utilises recent sales of comparable properties, adjusted for any
differences including the nature, location and lease profile, to indicate the fair value of a property. Where there is a lack of
recent sales activity adjustments are made from previous comparable sales to refiect changes in economic conditions.

DCF: DCF projections derived from contracted rents, market rents, operating costs, lease incentives, lease fees, capital
expenditure and future income on vacant space are discounted at a rate to arrive at a value. The discount rate is a market
assessment of the risk associated with the cash flows, and the nature, location and tenancy profile of the property relative to
returns from alternative investments, consumer price index rates and liquidity risk. It is assumed that the property is sold at
the end of the investment period at a terminal value. The terminal value is determined by using an appropriate terminal cap
rate. The Trust's terminal cap rates are in the range of an additional 25 to 100 basis points above the respective property’s

cap rate.

Cap rate: An assessment is made of fully leased net income based on contracted rents, market rents, operating costs and
future income on vacant space. The adopted fully leased net income is capitalised in perpetuity from the valuation date at an
appropriate cap rate. The cap rate reflects the nature, location and tenancy profile of the property together with current
market investment criteria, as evidenced by current sales evidence. Various adjustments mcludlng incentives, capital
expenditure, and reversions to market rent are made to arrive at the property value.

(b) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment properties

Consolidated

2011 2010
$°000 $'000
Balance 1 July 474,338 538,839
Additions 1,862 3,279
Disposals {2,318) -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value of investment properties 28,259 (44,682)
Transfer of investment properties to non-current assets
classified as held for sale {52,239)
Lease incentives 479 2,093
Amortisation of lease incentives (407) (651)
Straight-lining of lease revenue 1,626 2,416
Foreign currency translation loss (97,378) (26,956)
Balance 30 June 354,222 474 338
12 Payables
Consolidated
2011 2010
B - $°000 $'000
Trade creditors 2,751 2,977
Rent received in advance 1,286 1,797
Security deposits 2,235 2,594
Management fees 1,624 615
Real estate taxes 13,109 17,167
Other payables 29 30
21,034 25,180
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13 Derivative financial instruments

Consolidated

2011 2010
$°'000 $'000
Current assets
Forward foreign exchange contracts — fair value - 361
- 361
Current liabilities _
Interest rate swap contracts — fair value - 157
Non-current liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts — fair value - 403
- 560

14 Borrowings
Consolidated

2011 2010
$°000 $'000
Current liabilities - Berrowings
Secured loans
Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (CMBS} 115,016 220,925
Provision for default costs 2,827 -
Bank loans 134,205 -
Other loans - 11,615
Total current liabilities 252,048 232,540
Non-current liabilities - Borrowings
Secured loans
Bank loans - 171,537
Loans from related parties 8,427 10,618
Other loans 79,764 -
Total non-current liabilities 88,191 182,155
Total borrowings : 340,239 414,695
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

14 Borrowings (continued)
(a) Assets pledged as security

The controlled entities of the Trust, CJF1 LLC and CJF4 LLC, have secured debt relating specifically to the assets owned by
the relevant controlled entity. For controlled entities of the Trust, CJF2 LLC and CJF3 LLC, these debt facilities are cross
collateralised hence are secured against the assets owned by both relevant controlled entities. The carrying amounts of the
assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$'000 $'000

Non-current assets classified as held for sale ' 52,239 _ -
Investment properties 354,222 474,338
Total assets pledged as security 406,461 474,338

{b} Financial guarantees

The Responsible Entity in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the parent entity, as well as the controlled entities of the
Trust, Mirvac US Industrial Property Trust and Mirvac Chicago Industrial LLC have provided a guarantee to Mirvac Group
Finance Limited to guarantee the obligations due under the foan agreement between the borrower Mirvac US Industrial
Property Fund, Inc (a controlled entity of the Trust) and the lender Mirvac Group Finance Limited. Refer to note 22(g) for

further information.

The Responsible Entity in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the parent entity and its controlled entities (Mirvac US
Industrial Property Trust and Mirvac Chicago Industrial LLC) are parties to a deed of cross indemnity under which each
company guarantees to indemnify each other should the above guarantee be enforced by the lender.

15 Contributed equity

Consolidated Entity 2011 2010 2011 2010

Units ‘000 Units ‘000 $°000 $'000
Issue of equity 362,458 362,458 341,544 341,544
Balance at the end of the financial year 362,458 362,458 341,544 341,544

(a) Ordinary units

All ordinary units are fully paid at 30 June 2011. Ordinary units entitle the hoider to participate in distributions and the
preceeds on winding up of the Trust in proportion to the number of and amount paid on the units held. On a show of hands
every holder of ordinary units present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each unit is
entitled to one vote.

{b) Capital risk management

The Trust's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concemn, so that it can
continue to provide returns for unitholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Trust may adjust the amount of distributions paid to unitholders, retum
capital to unitholders or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the Trust monitors capital on the
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total assets.

Consolidated

2011 2010
$:000 $'000
Total borrowings 340,239 414,695
Total assets 432,929 491,994
Gearing ratio 78.59% 84.29%
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16 Reserves and undistributed income

Consolidated
2011 2010
$’000 $'000
Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year {15,401) (10,241)
Currency franslation differences {10,735) {5,160)
Balance at the end of the financial year : {26,136) {15,401)
Undistributed income .
Undistributed income at the beginning of the financial year (274,593) (243,686)
Net loss attributable to unitholders 30,841 (30,907)
Undistributed loss at the end of financial year (243,752) (274,593)
17 Earnings per unit
Consolidated
_ 2011 2010
Basic eamnings per unit (cents) 8.51 (8.53)
Diluted eamings per unit (cents) A 8.51 (8.53)
Weighted average number of units outstanding during the financial year used in the
calculation of basic eamings per unit {'000) 362,458 362,458
Weighted average number of units outstanding during the financial year used in the
calculation of diluted eamings per unit {*000) 362,458 362,458

18 Financial risk management

The Trust's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk}, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Trust's overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the Trust. The Trust uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk exposures.
Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes and are not held for trading or speculative purposes, although do not
qualify for hedge accounting.

Financial risk management is carried out by the Responsible Entity under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The
Board provides written principles for overall isk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments.
The Responsible Entity identifies, evaluates, reports and hedges financial risks accordance with the Trust's policy.

(a) Market risk
Markst risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in

market prices. Components of market risk to which we are exposed are discussed below:

(it  Foreign exchange risk _
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a

currency that is not the entity's functional currency and net investments in foreign operations.

The Trust operates in the United States of America and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures
to the US dollar. Management has set up a policy requiring the Trust to manage the foreign exchange risk against the
functional currency. The Trust is required to hedge its foreign exchange risk exposure arising from future commercial
transactions and to manage its foreign exchange risk for its assets and liabilities in foreign currency by borrowing in the
same functional currency of its investment to form a natural economic hedge against any foreign currency fluctuations.

The Trust's policy is not to hedge unrealised fair value increases/decreases which may have occurred in its foreign currency
assets. The assets are revalued at the end of each reporting period with the fair value movement reflected in equity as a
movement in foreign currency translation reserve. Forward exchange contracts are valued at the end of each reporting
period with the fair value movement reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as exchange gains or
losses. Derivative financial instruments are held at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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18 Financial risk management (continued)

The Trust's Australian dollar equivalents exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as foliows. These
amounts are converted from US dollar to Australian dollar:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$°000 $'000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19,663 9,788
Receivables 2,485 3,614
Investment properties 406,462 469,249
Other : 2,819 718
Total assets 431,429 483,369
Liabilities
Payables 18,801 24,245
Borrowings 340,239 414,695
Derivative financial ingtruments - 157
Total liabilities 358,040 439,097
Net assets ) 72,389 44 272

Foreign exchange contracts (cross currency swaps) are entered into based on forecast distributions from the entities for the
ensuing financial years. The contracts are timed to mature at the end of each reporting period when the distribution is
expected to be received from the entities.

During the year, the derivative financial instruments of the Trust have either expired or been netted off with new contracts
such that no further asset or liability will be carried going forward:

Buy Australian dollars Sell US dollars Average exchange rate
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Maturity $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Less than 1 year 14,892 26,236 11,388 19,570 0.7647 0.7459
1 -2 years 7,827 17,291 6,444 13,210 0.8233 0.7640
2—3vyears - 10,186 - 8,236 - 0.8086
Total 22,719 53,713 17,832 41,016 0.7849 0.7636
Buy US dollars Sell Australian dollars Average exchange rate
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Maturity $°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Less than 1 year 11,388 16,050 14,892 21,600 0.7647 0.7431
1-2 years 6,444 9,520 7,827 12,537 0.8233 0.7594
Total 17,832 25,570 22,719 34,137 0.7849 0.7490

Sensitivity analysis

The Trust's foreign currency translation risk associated with the foreign investments results in some volatility to the foreign
currency translation reserve. The impact on the foreign currency translation reserve relates to translation of the net assets of
our foreign controlled entities including the impact of hedging.

The foreign currency derivative contracts are not deemed to be effective hedges under AAS. As a result they are recognised
at fair values with changes in fair values during the year recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and therefore affect the net profit.
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18 Financial risk management (continued)

Net equity and profit movements that would result from a change by -/+ 5% in the Australian/US doliar exchange rate during
the year are as follow:

Consolidated Equity Net profit
foreign currency reserve
2011 2010 2011 2010
$°000 $'000 $°000 $°000
- 5% 2,055 3,931 1,758 {1,613)
+ 5% (1,859) (3,557) {1,588) 1,459

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Trust's interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings. Borrowings issued at floating rates expose the Trust to cash
flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Trust to fair value interest rate risk. At 30 June 2011,
95.83% (2010: 92.92%) of the Trust's borrowings are at fixed rates. During 2011 and 2010, all of the Trust's borrowings

were in US dollars.

The Trust manages its cash flow interest rate risk by raising long term borrowings at fixed rates. As at the reporting date, the
Trust had the following floating rate borrowings outstanding:

2011 2010
Welghted Balance Weighted Balance
average average
intorest rate % $'000 interest rate % $'000
Bank loans 6.28% 14,075 4.72% 29,349

An analysis by maturities is provided in (c) below.
Sensitivity analysis

Based upon a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates, the impact on profit after tax has been calculated taking
into account all underlying exposures. This sensitivity has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current
level of both short term and long term interest rates in the United States. If interest rates were to increase with all other
variables held constant this would result in an increase in finance costs and a decrease in profit. Conversely the exact

opposite will occur if interest rates were to decrease.

At 30 June 2011, if interest rates in the United States of America had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end
rates with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Trust's results for the year would have been US$151,150

lowerfhigher (2010: US$250,150 lower/higher).
{b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to tenants, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Credit risk
is managed on the Trust basis. Risk control assesses the credit quality of the tenants, taking into account the tenants
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the Trust.

The compliance with credit limits by tenants is regularly monitored by management. Tenant receivables are required to be
settled in cash, mitigating credit risk. For some receivables the Trust may also obtain security in the form of guarantees,
deeds of undertaking or letters of credit which can be called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the
agreement. Tenant receivables are considered impaired when all legal measures have been exhausted unsuccessfully to

recover receivables.

The Trust is also exposed to credit risk arising from transactions in cross currency swaps. For credit purposes, there is only
a credit risk where the contracting entity is liable to pay us in the event of a closeout. Derivative counterparties and cash
transactions are limited to financial institutions that meet minimum credit rating criteria in accordance with the Trust's policy

requirements.
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18 Financial risk management {continued)

The credit quality of other financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$°000 $'000
Cash at bank and short term bank deposits 21,134 12,938
Trade receivables 2,508 3,630
Derivative financial assets - 361
Derivative financial liabilities - (560)

{c} Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities,

Prudent tiquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. The Trust manages liquidity risk by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Trust aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available with a variety of counterparties.

The tables below analyse the Trust's financial liabiliies, net and gross settled derivative financial instruments into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Consolidated Carrying
Between Between Total amount
Less than 1and2 2and5 Over5 contractual (assets)/
1 year years years years cash flows liabllities
At 30 June 2011 $'000 $000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Non-derivatives
Floating rate 15,107 - - - 15,107 14,075
Fixed rate 251,391 4,869 14,607 120,512 391,379 326,164
Total non-derivatives 266,498 4,869 14,607 120,512 406,486 340,239
Derivatives
Net seftled (cross currency swaps) - - - - - -
Total derivatives - ‘ - - - " -
At 30 June 2010 : $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-derivatives
Floating rate 19,971 11,247 - - 31,218 29,349
Fixed rate _ 227,077 171,665 - - 308,642 385,346
Total non-derivatives 247,048 182,812 - - 429,860 414,695
Derivatives .
Net settled (cross currency swaps) 4,793 4,754 10,186 - 19,733 42
Total derivatives 4,793 4,754 10,186 - 19,733 - 42

(i}  Refinancing risk
Refinancing risk, also part of liquidity risk, s the risk that the maturity profile of debt makes it difficult to re-finance {or
rollover) maturing debt, or that it creates an excessive exposure to potentially unfavourable market conditions at any given

time.

The Trust is exposed to refinancing risks arising from the availability of finance as well as the interest rates and credit
margins at which financing is available. The Trust manages this risk, where appropriate, by refinancing borrowings in
advance of the maturity of the borrowing and using interest rate derivatives to hedge known and forecast positions and
reviewing potential transactions to understand the impact on the credit rating. Further detalls on the refinance of CJF1 and
details on settlement of CJF4 fixed debt facility can be found in note 1{b} and note 23.
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18 Financial risk management {continued)

(d} Fair value measurement

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes. The Trust has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures which requires disclosure of

fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

{a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities {level 1)
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as

prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2),and
{c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {(unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Derivative financial instruments of the Trust have either expired or been netted off such that no further asset or liability will
be carried going forward. The Trust does not have any other assets or liabilities measured and recognised at fair value.

19 Remuneration of auditor

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Trust
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC):

Consolidated

2011 2010
$ 3

Auditors of the Trust
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work 515,484 506,315

Other services

Taxation services 112,367 205,051
Other services 51,500 56,355
679,351 767,721

20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The following guarantee has been given by the Trust or its controlled entities,

. A controlled entity of the Trust, Mirvac Chicago Industrial LLC has provided a guarantee to JP Morgan Chase to
guarantee the obligations due under the forward foreign exchange contracts entered into by the Mirvac Industrial Trust.
The amounts due under the guarantee are limited to the amount otherwise distributable by Mirvac Chicago Industrial
LLC to Mirvac US Industrial Property Trust. During the year, the Trust entered into new foreign exchange contracts to
net off existing contracts such that no further asset or liability will be carried going forward.

No material claims are anticipated in respect of the above guarantee and the Trust had no other contingent liabilities and no
contingent assets at 30 June 2011.

21 Commitments

There are no capital commitments at 30 June 2011.
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22 Related parties
{a) Responsible Entity

The Responsible Entity of the Trust is Mirvac Funds Management Limited, an entity incorporated in New South Wales. The
immediate parent entity of the Respeonsible Entity is Mirvac Limited, incorporated in New South Wales.

(b) Key management personnel

(i)  Directors
Key management personnel are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the Trust, directly or indirectly, including any director {whether executive or otherwise) of the Trust.

Key management personnel include persons who were Directors of the Responsible Entity at any time during the financial
year as follows:

Paul Barker (Chairman)

Andrew Butler (was alternate to Nicholas Collishaw until his appointment on 13 December 2010)
Nicholas Collishaw (resigned on 29 June 2011)

Matthew Hardy

Kenneth Strang (resigned on 27 May 2011)

(il Other key management personne!

Other key management personnel who were responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Trust,
directly or indirectly during the year include:

Nicholas Blake — Trust manager

(i) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are employed and paid by Mirvac Projects Pty Lid. Payments made from the Trust to Mirvac
Funds Management Limited do not include any amounts attributable to the compensation of key management personnel.

{iv] Key management personnel loan disclosures
The Trust has not made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, any loans to the key management personnel or their
personally related entities at any time during the year.

(v) Key management personnel unit holdings
No key management personnel held units in the Trust during the financial year.

(c} Other transactions

No key management personnel have entered into a material contract with the Trust and there were no material contracts
invelving director's interests existing throughout the year.

{d) Responsible Entity

The following related parties of the Responsible Entity hold and have acquired Mirvac Industrial Trust units at prevailing
market rates. At 30 June 2011 these interests consisted of:

2011 2010

Number of Number of

: —— — Units Units
Mirvac Property Trust 50,742,790 50,742,790

{e) Responsible Entity’s remuneration
In accordance with the Trust Constitution, Mirvac Funds Management Limited {and its associates) are entitled to receive:

. a management fee of 0.50 per cent of the value of the Trust's direct or indirect proportionate interest in the properties
and other assets of the Trust (on a gross value basis), calculated monthly based on the value of such assets at the end
of the relevant month and payable at the end of each quarter;

. a due diligence fee of 0.25 per cent of the purchase price of any and all assets directly or indirectly acquired by the
Trust;
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22 Related parties (continued)

. a debt arrangement fee of 0.50 per cent of the amount of any future borrowing drawn for the purpose of acguiring
assets directly or indirectly for the Trust;
an acquisition fee of 0.75 per cent of the purchase price of all assets directly or indirectly acquired by the Trust,
a disposal fee of 0.75 per cent for all assets directly or indirectly disposed of by the Trust, where the sale price exceeds
the original cost or carrying value including costs of any third party broker;

. reimbursement of trust expenses incurred on behalf of the Trust.

Set out below are the fees paid or payable by the Trust and its consolidated entities to the Responsible Entity (and its
associates) during the year:

Consolidated

2011 2010
$ $
Management fees 2,151,662 2,517,803
Reimbursement of trust expenses 348,188 409,019
The following amounts are included in accounts payable as
owed to the Responsible Entity at balance date 695,752 9,152
{f) Controlled entities
Details of interests in controlled entities are set out in note 9.
{g) Amounts owing to related parties
Consolidated
2011 2010
$ $
Loans from Mirvac Group Finance Limited
Beginning of the year 10,618,326 21,937,392
Loans repayments made - (10,266,338}
Interest charged 1,187,306 1,891,736
Interest paid {1,187,306) (1,891,736)
Foreign currency translation movements (2,191,098} (1,0562,728)
End of year 8,427,228 10,618,326

Guarantees and Deed of Cross Indemnity
The Responsible Entity in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the parent entity, as well as the controlled entities of the

Trust, Mirvac US Industrial Property Trust and Mirvac Chicago Industrial LLC have provided a guarantee to Mirvac Group
Finance Limited to guarantee the obligations due under the loan agreement between the borrower Mirvac US Industrial
Property Fund, Inc {a controlled entity of the Trust) and the lender Mirvac Group Finance Limited.

The Responsible Entity in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the parent entity and its controlied entities the Mirvac US
Industrial Property Trust and Mirvac Chicago Industrial LLC are parties to a deed of cross indemnity under which each
company guarantees to indemnify each other should the above guarantse be enforced by the lender. The CJF2 LLC and
CJF3 LLC loan facilities are cross-collateralised between the entities.

(h) Distributions

The Trust has not received distributions nor are there any distributions due and receivable from wholly-owned controlled
entities.

{i} Debt advisory services

During the year a controlled entity of the Trust obtained debt advisory services from Quadrant Real Estate Advisors, LLC
(“Quadrant’) in the United State of America. Quadrant is a related party to the Responsible Entity.

. Consolidated
2011 2010
$ $

Debt advisory service fees relating to Quadrant incurred by
the controlled entity of the Trust 732,466 340,097
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

23 Events occurring after reporting date
{a) Loans refinanced for CMBS 1 ($109.4m) and Floating Interest Cap {$5.6m), Sale of Elwood Assets

The Responsible Entity announced on 4 July 2011 that it had repaid its CMBS 1 loan facilities ($109.4m) and Floating
Interest Cap ($5.6m) held by CJF1 LLC (“CJF1"} and replaced them with a Fixed Debt loan facility with ING USA Annuity
and Life Insurance Company (“ING") on 1 July 2011 (US time). The loan for this controlled entity of the Trust is $59.6m

(US$64.0m).

Included with the repayment of CJF1 loan facilities outstanding principal was an agreed amount of $2.8m (US$3.0m) for six
months of default interest as a consequence of CMBS1 being in maturity default from 7 August 2010 (approximately 11
months). The late payment charge of $5.8m (US$6.2m), representing 5 per cent of the unpaid amount, was not imposed by
the CJF1 loan facilities special servicer.

The refinance was achieved using a combination of sources including a new $59.6m (US$64.0m) loan from ING, proceeds
before costs of $50.4m (US$54.1m) from the sale of the Trust’s Elwood assets (27413 South Baseline Road and 21705-07
Woest Mississippi Street), a further $4.7m (US$5.0m) drawdown on the Mirvac Group Finance Limited (“MGFL") loan and
cash at hand.

At 30 June 2011, CJF1 consisted of 14 assets with a value of $148.4m, of which 3 assets were held for sale. The new loan
facility with ING consists of 10 assets which at 30 June 2011 were valued at a total of $92.5m {US$99.3m). The ING facility
is secured by the assets listed under note 11 in connection with CJF1 with the exception of the following four assets:

27413 South Baseline Road, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

21705-07 West Mississippi Street, Elwood (sold 1 July 2011 US time);

9700 Harlem Ave, Bridgeview (sold 15 July 2011 US time); and

3145 Central Ave, Waukegan (remains an asset of CJF1 with no direct debt facility).

The material terms of the loan are as follows: )

U A term of 4.8 years (the loan matures on 1 March 2031 but is callable on 1 March 2016, 1 March 2021 and 1 March
2026);

Fixed interest rate of 4.30 per cent per annum;

23.5 year amortisation of the Fixed Debt facility;

First mortgage security interest in all real property held by CJF1 with the exceptions noted above; and

Limited recourse to CJF1 and cross-collateralised between CJF2 and CJF3.

As announced on 4 July 2011, to implement the refinancing of the CJF1 loan facilities, the Responsible Entity received
consent to a drawdown of a further US$5.0m under the MGFL loan. As a result of the Trust drawing these funds under the
MGFL loan, certain conditions of the MGFL loan agreement were amended. These include:

. 100 per cent of the net proceeds from the future sale of 3145 Central Avenue, Waukegan, Nlincis and 9700 Harlem
Avenue, Bridgeview, lllincis in return for MGFL waiving the requirement that 50 per cent of the net proceeds from the
sale of the two Elwood assets only be applied to the MGFL loan; and

. The maturity date of the MGFL loan was extended to 30 September 2012 (from 31 January 2012).

{b) Settlement of CJF4, LLC loan (Fixed Debt facility)

The Responsible Entity also announced on 4 July 2011 that negotiations between KTR WIM LLC and KTR WIM Il LLC
("KTR”) who are the lenders of the CJF4 (a controlled entity of the Trust) loan facility had commenced and were continuing.
These negotiations related to the CJF4 loan facility that was due and payable on 1 July 2011 (US time).

To facilitate negotiations, KTR and CJF4 entered into a mutual short-term Forbearance Agreement (the “Agreement”) on 2
July 2011. The Agreement set out that KTR will refrain from enforcement actions on the repayment of the CJF4 facility for a

period of up to 28 days.

As announced on 2 August 2011 this resulted in the execution of a binding agreement on 31 July 2011 {US time). The
binding agreerment required CJF4 to expedite the transfer of all 30 CJF4 properties, with a collateral value at 30 June 2011
of $152.3m (US$163.6m) on an “as is, where is” basis o KTR in exchange for KTR releasing CJF4 from its obligation to
repay $134.2m (US$144.1m) under the CJF4 facility, plus consideration of US$5.0m being paid by KTR to CJF4. Settlement
of the transaction occurred on 5 August 2011 (US time).

The terms of the settlement also result in the transfer of some assets and liabilities attached to the 30 investment properties
transferred to KTR. The estimated impact of this transaction would be a loss on sale of US$10.5m and a reduction in net
assets of US$10.5m. At the date of this report the Trust is still in the process of determining the overall impact of this

settlement,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

23 Events occurring after reporting date (continued)
(¢) Sale of 9700 Harlem Avenue, Bridgeview

On the 15 July 2011, the sale of 9700 Harlem Avenue, Bridgeview was finalised. The property was sold for $1.9m
(US$2.0m) before costs.

Other than the circumstances disclosed above and expanded upon in note 1(b), no ather circumstances have arisen since
the end of the financial year which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated
entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years.

24 Notes to the statement of cash flows

{a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the year as shown in the statement of cash fiows is the same as the statement of financial position, the
detaii of which follows:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$'000 $'000

Cash at bank 18,543 11,618
Restricted cash 2,591 1,320
Cash and cash equivalents 21,134 12,938

The cash balance above includes restricted cash totalling $2,591,066 (2010: $1,319,545). The restricted cash relates fo
cash of CJF1 LLC, CJF2 LLC and CJF3 LLC {(controlled entities of the Trust) that is available for capital expenditure for

CJF1 upon approval of the lender.
(b) Reconciliation of loss attributable to unitholders to net cash inflow from operating acfivities

Consolidated

2011 2010

$'000 $'000
Net profit/(loss) 30,841 {30,907)
Straight-line of lease revenue (823) (1,583)
Net gain on financial instruments {43) (2,115)
Net (gain)loss from fair value on investment properties (28,259) 44,682
Amortisation of lease incentives 1,368 1,458
Provision for default costs 3,306 -
Net gain on foreign currency (817) {833)
Change in operating assets and liabifities
Increase/(decrease) in trade debtors and prepayments 977 {1,929}
Decrease in trade creditors and payables (4,1486) (3,708)
Net foreign exchange differences {802) 2,440
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,602 7,505
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25 Parent entity financial information
(a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

Parent entity

201 2010

$'000 $'000

Current assets 1,502 3,535

Total assets 73,891 47,835

Current liabilities 2,235 935

Total liabilities 2,235 1,338
Equity

Contributed equity 341,544 341,544

Undistributed loss {269,888) (295,047}

71,656 46,497

Profit or (loss) for the year 25,159 (36,079)

Total comprehensive income 25,159 {36,079)

Except for the disclosure in note 14({b} and note 22(g), the parent entity did not have any guarantees, contingent liabifities or
commitments as at 30 June 2011 or 30 June 2010.
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Mirvac Industrial Trust
Directors’ declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2011

In the opinion of the Directors of the Responsible Entity:
(a) the financial statemenis and notes set out on pages 20 to 53 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,

including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Cofporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Trust's and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of
their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(i) the Trust has operated in accordance with the provisions of the constitution dated 21 March 2005, during the
year ended 30 June 2011; and

(b} at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to befieve that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Financial Controller required by Section
295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

%fﬁ-:&ﬁ v / e

Paul Barker
Chairman

Sydney
23 August 2011
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Mirvac Industrial Trust

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Mirvac Industrial Trust (the Trust), which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a
summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for
the Mirvac Industrial Trust Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the
Trust and the entities it controlled at the vear's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of Mirvac Funds Management Limited (the responsible entity of the Trust) are
responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to frand or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance
with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonahleness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions,

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171

DX 77 Sydney, Australia
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.prc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Mirvac Industrial Trust is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

0] giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2011 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
as disclosed in Note 1.

Emphasis of Matter — Material events occurring after reporting period

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the contents in Note 1(b) and Note 23 to the
financial statements which indicate that after reporting date the Mirvac Industrial Trust Group settled
certain financing arrangements, including the CJF4 facility. The agreement with the lender resulted in
the settlement of the facility and a cash payment to CJF4 LLC in exchange for the transfer of all thirty
CJF4 properties at a loss.

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011
included on the responsible entity web site. The directors of the responsible entity are responsible for
the integrity of the responsible entity’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of
this web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report named above. It does not provide
an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report. If
users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications
they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information
included in the audited financial report presented on this web site.

Pkocbbien €y

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Y

Jane Reilly Sydney
Partner 23 August 2011
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Investor Information
Enquiries or notifications from Mirvac Industrial Trust Investors regarding their investment in the Trust should be directed to:

Mirvac Industrial Trust Registry

Link Market Services

Locked Bag A14, Sydney South NSW 1235
Telephone (within Australia): 1300 363 917
Overseas Investors: +61 2 8280 7075
Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303

Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

Receiving distributions

If you currently receive your distributions by cheque, we encourage all Investors to bank their cheques as soon as possible.
Alternatively, you could have your income distributions paid directly into a nominated account. Not only is this a quick and
convenient way of recelving payments, it provides Investors with immediate access to funds deposited. To notify us of your
bank account details, you can update your information through Link’s online service at www.linkmarketservices.com.au, (see
details below regarding online access), download a form from Link’s web site or advise Link in writing.

You can do so much more online
Ongoing communication and information relating to the Trust, is updated via the Trust's website at www.mirvac.com/mix.
Investors may also login to the Investor Information area to access a wide variety of holding information, make some

changes to their holding details online or download forms.
Once logged in, Investors can;

check holding balances;

access security prices;

change address details;

enter/update email addresses;

enterfamend TFN, ABN and exemption details;
providefamend direct credit/bank instructions; and
consolidate holdings. '

VVVVYVY VY

The website also contains general information on the Trust, such as property portfolio details, distribution information, news
and reports. A hard copy of information available on the website will also be provided to Investors on request.

Other websites
Mirvac: www.mirvac.com

Annual financial reports

In accordance with the Corporations Legislation Amendment (Simpler Regulatory System) Bill 2007, Mirvac Funds
Management Limited has made annual financial reports available online. A hard copy of the annual financial report will still
be available but will only be sent to Investors who elect to receive a copy. Annual financial reports can be accessed via

WWWw.mirvac.com/mix.

Buying and selling securities in MIX

MIX is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX"). Units in MIX can only be bought or sold though a stockbroker.
Each day, the major Australian newspapers cany the previous day's closing price for MIX units. For advice on how to buy
and seli units in MIX, contact your stockbroker or investment adviser.

Handling complaints

Mirvac Funds Management Limited has an established policy for dealing with complaints. Investors wishing to lodge a
complaint should write to:

Mirvac Funds Management Limited

C/- Link Market Services

Locked Bag A14

Sydney South NSW 1235

or

Manager, Investor Relations

Mirvac Funds Management Limited

Level 26, 60 Margaret Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Mirvac Funds Management Limited is a member of an independent dispute resolution scheme, the Financial Ombudsman

Service.
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Protecting privacy

Mirvac Funds Management Limited is careful to protect the privacy of Investors. If Investors discover that personal
information we hold is inaccurate, incomplete or out-of-date, or if you no longer wish to receive material from Mirvac Funds
Management Limited, you should contact our Privacy Officer by calling 02 9080 8000 or by writing to:

The Privacy Officer

Mirvac Funds Management Limited
Level 26, 60 Margaret Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Facsimile 02 9080 8174
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Supplementary information
The information set out below was prepared as at 28 July 2011 and applies to the Trust's ordinary units (ASX code: MIX).

At 28 July 2011 there were 362,457,269 MIX ordinary units on issue.

Largest Investors
Units held % of total units

Name

Mirvac Funds Limited <Mirvac Property A/C> 50,742,790 14.00
National Nominees Limited 31,975,010 8.82
Melic Pty Limited <The Melic Unit A/C> 22,062,328 6.09
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 17,285,827 4,77
J P Morgan Nominees Pty Limited 12,730,497 3.51
Murdesk Investments Pty Ltd 8,038,847 2.22
Edelle Two Pty Ltd {The Edelle Super Fund A/C> 7,000,000 1.93
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 6,989,653 1.93
Feta Nominees Pty Limited 4,530,471 1.25
Mr Andrew David Malko 4,300,915 1.19
Horrie Pty Ltd 4,000,000 1.10
Mrs Satwant Kaur Rai 3,800,000 1.05
Mr Brett McCarthy 3,638,026 1.00
Serlett Pty Ltd <Diligent Super Fund A/C> 3,614,299 1.00
Australian Executor Trustees Limited <No 1 Account> 3,307,151 0.91
Mr Paul Hill 3,024,772 0.83
Rundal Holdings Pty Ltd <Rundal Holdings P/L S/F A/C> 3,000,000 0.83
Mrs Melissa Jean Slattery 2,500,000 0.69
Ozhansa Pty Limited <Ozhanza Super Fund A/C> 2,330,000 0.64
Inston Pty Limited <Stringer Investment A/C> 2,175,000 0.60
Total largest investors 197,045,586 54.36
Total other 165,411,683 45.64
TOTAL 362,457,269 100.00
Investor spread

Range Number of Investors Units Held
1-1,000 31 19,971
1,001-5,000 208 870,406
5,001-10,000 31 3,002,908
10,001-100,000 980 38,150,382
100,001+ 331 320,413,602
Total 1,891 . 362,457,269

Number of Investors holding less than a marketable parcel is 394.

Substantial Investors

Investor ' Units held'
Mirvac Funds Limited <Mirvac Property A/C> 50,742,790
Orbis Investment Management {Australia) Pty Ltd 40,567,085
Melic Pty Ltd 22,685,178

"At the time the notice was submitted
Voting rights

On a show of hands, MIX Investors have one vote each. On a poll, each Investor present in person or by proxy has one vote
for each dollar of value of the total interests they hold in MIX. .
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Directory

Responsible Entity

Mirvac Funds Management Limited
ABN 78 067 417 663 AFSL 220 718
as Responsible Entity of

Mirvac Industrial Trust

ARSN 113 489 624

Registered office and postal address
Level 26, 60 Margaret Street

Sydney NSW 2000 -

Telephone: 02 9080 8000

Facsimile: 02 9080 8174

Email: enquiries_mfml@mirvac.com.au
Web: www.mirvac.com/mix

Board of Directors
Paul Barker (Chairman)
Andrew Butler

Matthew Hardy

Company Secretary
Varunika De Silva
Sonya Harris

Robyn Soranson

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
201 Sussex Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Unit registry

Link Market Services

Level 12, 680 George Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Web: www.linkmarketservices.com.au

Australian Securities Exchange listing
Mirvac Industrial Trust is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange

ASX listing code
MIX

Investor enquiries

Comrespondence:

Mirvac Industrial Trust

C/- Link Market Services

Locked Bag A4

Sydney South NSW 1235

Telephone: 1300 363 917 (within Australia} or (02) 8280 7111 (outside Australia)



